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          1  WATERFRONTS AND PUBLIC SAFETY COMMITTEES

          2                 CHAIRPERSON NELSON: Good afternoon,

          3  and welcome to today's hearing, the Committee on

          4  Waterfronts, held jointly with the Committee on

          5  Public Safety.

          6                 My name is Mike Nelson and I have the

          7  privilege to chair the Committee on Waterfronts.

          8                 In the middle of February of this

          9  year, it was reported that a company owned by the

         10  government of Dubai, would take over operations at

         11  six ports in the U.S.  The news immediately sparked

         12  a national debate.  Should companies owned by

         13  foreign governments be allowed to operate American

         14  ports?  How much control over the port facilities do

         15  these companies actually have?  Who staffs these

         16  facilities?  And who is actually responsible for

         17  port security?

         18                 Ultimately, as we all know, Dubai

         19  agreed to seller interest in American ports to

         20  American-owned companies, but if there is any lesson

         21  to be learned from this incident, it is that we, the

         22  people of this country, and of this City, know too

         23  little about who owns our ports, too little about

         24  how these ports are operated, and too little about

         25  the measures being taken to guarantee our security.
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          2  It is time for that to change, and it is time for us

          3  to become involved.

          4                 The purpose of this hearing is to

          5  shine some light on port security in the New York

          6  and New Jersey area, and to better understand how

          7  the various agencies charged with protecting our

          8  City, operates.  We hope that several things will

          9  come out of this hearing.  First, we hope to gain

         10  some basic understanding of how port security is

         11  currently handled, who has jurisdiction, and over

         12  what?  Who responds to an incident in a port or on

         13  the waterways? And what measures are being taken to

         14  improve security?

         15                 Secondly, we would like to know what

         16  more could be done to guarantee the safety of this

         17  City.  Are we getting the support we need?

         18                 And finally, we would like to know if

         19  there is anything the City Council can do to assist

         20  the brave men and women of the New York City Police

         21  Department, the Coast Guard, and other involved

         22  agencies, in accomplishing their missions.

         23                 New York/New Jersey is one of the

         24  largest ports in our country.  Our facilities handle

         25  more than half of the containerized shipping and
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          2  most of the processed all products coming to the

          3  east coast, and supply the entire eastern seaboard.

          4  The economic contribution of our shipping operations

          5  is vital to the economy, not just our City or State,

          6  but the entire nation.  We know that New York City

          7  remains a tempting target for terrorists. We must

          8  make sure that everything possible is being done to

          9  ensure our safety and security.  We obviously

         10  deserve nothing less.

         11                 And I would like to turn it over to

         12  Chair of Public Safety, my colleague, Peter Vallone.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Thank you, Chair

         14  Nelson.  Let me also welcome everyone, and let me

         15  commend Chairman Nelson for being the force behind

         16  this hearing and spear heading this effort.

         17                 This is one of a long list of

         18  hearings that the Public Safety Committee has had

         19  jointly with other committees, regarding the City's

         20  preparedness for attack.  We have held one jointly

         21  with Health, regarding our preparedness for a bio-

         22  terrorist attack.  We have had a joint hearing with

         23  Transportation, regarding a possible attack on our

         24  subway or rail system, a joint hearing with the

         25  Environmental Committee, based on how safe our water
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          2  shed is, Fire and Criminal Justice we have had many

          3  joint hearings regarding the entire uniform command

          4  structure and just how safe we are in general.  And

          5  today, we now join with the Waterfronts Committee to

          6  look at the very important issue of port security.

          7                 Chairman Nelson mentioned the Dubai

          8  deal and outrage on both sides of the aisle in

          9  Washington, including a strong local reaction,

         10  obviously led to that deal being abandoned.  I was

         11  among the local officials criticizing that deal.

         12  Our ports, as assessed from every security analysis,

         13  are major points of vulnerability. Billions of

         14  dollars of goods from around the world flow through

         15  them, making these a prime target for an attack.

         16  Coupled with what appears to be a lack of resources

         17  and lack of enforcement by federal agencies, having

         18  a company controlled by foreign interests operate

         19  our ports, I believe is a recipe for disaster.

         20                 The Dubai debacle did actually

         21  highlight one thing, though.  And that is, foreign

         22  control of our ports.  It has become, as Mayor

         23  Bloomberg said, it has become the big issue

         24  recently.  But for some reason, no one mentioned it,

         25  prior to this Dubai deal. You know, we now learn
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          2  that is Howland Hook, a port owned by the Port

          3  Authority on Staten Island, is owned by a Honk Kong-

          4  based company.  I believe that is unacceptable.

          5  China, the interest of China are not always aligned

          6  with the interest of the United States.  There is no

          7  guarantee. That current relatively stable

          8  relationship, continues.

          9                 We will learn today more about what

         10  security measures are in the control of the port

         11  operator, but at this point, I believe they hire and

         12  fire security guards, they are responsible for

         13  developing a plan, a security plan, and they are

         14  responsible for reporting suspicious activity.

         15  Again, those are things that should be in the hands

         16  of an American.

         17                 Now the NYPD is here and they have a

         18  Harbor and Counter Terrorism Unit, but I believe

         19  Port of Securities primarily is in the hands of

         20  Custom officials and Coast Guard.  There is

         21  obviously a coordination necessary between our local

         22  and federal officials, and we are going to hear

         23  about that today.  Many of us wish that the NYPD had

         24  more of a hand in port security.  I am probably sure

         25  you guys and ladies do, too.
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          2                 We will be introducing a resolution,

          3  Chair Nelson and I, next week, which will call for a

          4  position on the board of the Port Authority and the

          5  MTA, actually.  But today's relevance is the Port

          6  Authority for an NYPD representative.  Because

          7  obviously, port security is vital to the City and

          8  the country as a whole.

          9                 The attention of Washington, it

         10  seems, has already been turned from this issue, onto

         11  other issues.  And as the area most at risk, if a

         12  weapon of mass destruction is smuggled into a port,

         13  we cannot let that happen.  We cannot let this

         14  issue, once again, be placed on a back burner.

         15                 So, I look forward to today's

         16  testimony from our State and local officials.

         17                 We are joined also by Council Member

         18  Katz, or we will be shortly, she is waving from the

         19  corner.

         20                 Gentlemen, thank you for joining us

         21  today.  Again, we look forward to your testimony.

         22  Please introduce yourselves and begin.  Thank you.

         23                 ASSISTANT CHIEF KAMMERDENER: Good

         24  afternoon.  I am Assistant Chief Charles

         25  Kammerdener, Commanding Officer of the Special
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          2  Operations Division.  I am joined with Counsel, Ms.

          3  Petito, from the NYPD Legal Bureau, and also Captain

          4  Dave Driscoll, from the Commanding Office of the

          5  Harbor Unit, and Lieutenant William Church from the

          6  Harbor Unit, also.

          7                 Good afternoon, Chairman Vallone,

          8  Chairman Nelson, and members of the council.  I am

          9  Assistant Chief Charles Kammerdener, Commanding

         10  Officer of the New York City Police Department's

         11  Special Operation's Division.  On behalf of Police

         12  Commissioner Raymond Kelly, I am pleased to be here

         13  today to discuss the issue of port security in New

         14  York City.

         15                 We commend the council for focusing

         16  attention on a topic of extreme importance, not only

         17  in New York City, but throughout the country.  As we

         18  have worked toward strengthening the defenses of New

         19  York City against terrorist attack, by gathering and

         20  analyzing intelligence information, by hardening our

         21  infrastructure and by training and deploying our

         22  personnel effectively, we must also work with

         23  federal and State partners in this effort to address

         24  issues, which are larger than New York City alone.

         25                 The entity responsible for port
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          2  security in our country is the Department of

          3  Homeland Security, through the U.S. Coast Guard, and

          4  U.S. Customs and Border Protection.  In New York

          5  City, specific responsibility for port security is

          6  placed on the Coast Guard's Captain of the Port.

          7                 We have a close working relationship

          8  with the Department of Homeland Security, but we

          9  acknowledge that there is a great deal of work to be

         10  done in enhancing the security of our ports.  We

         11  know that the best way to prevent a terrorist attack

         12  through cargo shipping, is to prevent the mechanism

         13  from being loaded onto the ship in the first place,

         14  before it ever reaches our ports.  That requires

         15  international cooperation and an infusion of

         16  resources, which again, requires federal

         17  intervention and commitment.

         18                 With respect to the role and

         19  jurisdiction of the NYPD on the City's waterways,

         20  the Harbor Unit is responsible for patrolling 146

         21  square miles of navigable waters, and 576 miles of

         22  waterfront.  Our fleet consists of 26 launches of

         23  various sizes, ranging from 20 feet to 55 feet.

         24  They are deployed with personnel trained to handle a

         25  large variety of missions, performing both
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          2  traditional law enforcement functions, as well as

          3  counter terrorism functions  The unit routinely

          4  coordinates its efforts with the Coast Guard and the

          5  Department's Counter Terrorism Bureau.

          6                 Our aggressive focus on counter

          7  terrorism activity includes, for example, daily

          8  proactive security dives by the Scuba Team, focused

          9  on sensitive locations to look for explosives.  We

         10  also perform such dives in connection with special

         11  events, such as the United Nations General Assembly

         12  and the annual July 4th fireworks display.

         13                 In addition, the Harbor Unit deploys

         14  what are termed Hercules teams, fielding heavily

         15  armed personnel in harbor launches as part of

         16  Operation Atlas, a key NYPD counter terrorism

         17  initiative.  The Harbor Unit participates in

         18  operations and exercises with other NYPD units,

         19  including Special Operations Division resources, the

         20  Aviation Unit, the Emergency Service Unit, to ensure

         21  effective response to emergencies and to disrupt

         22  potential terrorist threats.

         23                 In conclusion, working with our

         24  partners in government, the NYPD will continue to

         25  advocate for a new approach to the issue of port
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          2  security, to protect not only those who visit, live

          3  and work in New York City, but everyone in our

          4  region and our nation.

          5                 Thank you for the opportunity to be

          6  here today and we will be pleased to answer your

          7  questions.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Thank you,

          9  Chief.  Let us begin with the amount of officers

         10  that you have in the Harbor Unit.

         11                 ASSISTANT CHIEF KAMMERDENER: We have

         12  154 officers. We have an ongoing interview process

         13  that will always allow us to identify key personnel

         14  ahead of time, before they are actually assigned to

         15  the unit.  So, that will cut down on any delay of

         16  getting additional resources as we might need them.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: That is

         18  interesting.  Identify key personnel ahead of time?

         19  Like if they come in as a lifeguard or something,

         20  what does that mean?

         21                 ASSISTANT CHIEF KAMMERDENER: No, this

         22  is a very stringent interview process.  You

         23  accumulate points on this interview, tests, so to

         24  speak.  If you have prior experience, what units you

         25  have in the NYPD that you have experience in,
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          2  whether or not you have prior scuba training and so

          3  forth.  And after that, it is evaluated, but not

          4  only members of the NYPD Harbor Unit that are a part

          5  of this board, but the Officer of the Chief of

          6  Patrol and the Officer of the Personnel Bureau.

          7  Once you achieve that, once you are assigned to the

          8  Harbor Unit, there is a very specific training

          9  process, especially those that are assigned to the

         10  Scuba Unit, which is almost three months in

         11  duration.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Actually, my

         13  next question was, what sort of specific training do

         14  your members receive?

         15                 ASSISTANT CHIEF KAMMERDENER: Well, we

         16  train on all of the things that are relative to how

         17  to operate the boats, the safety measure of the

         18  boats, Coast Guard regulations, emergency

         19  procedures, how to operate with other units within

         20  the NYPD, specifically the Aviation Unit and the

         21  Emergency Service Unit. Because we almost have a

         22  military procedure the way we operate with those

         23  three units, training for special events.

         24                 We also have, for the Scuba Unit, a

         25  very rigorous training schedule.  They dive all
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          2  locations throughout the City during this training

          3  process, whether it be good piers, piers that are

          4  dilapidated, variances in the visibility of the

          5  water, which could go from anywhere from ten feet to

          6  zero visibility in most of the areas, emergency

          7  procedures, and also working with some of the causes

          8  provided through Homeland Security, identification,

          9  and how to dive cargo vessels, and so forth, for

         10  explosive materials.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Again, leading

         12  me into my next question, any specific training

         13  regarding counter terrorism?

         14                 ASSISTANT CHIEF KAMMERDENER: We have

         15  a very close working relationship with the Counter

         16  Terrorism Bureau.  We have a nexus with them,

         17  including Operation Nexus, which deals with the

         18  yacht clubs and marinas and ferry operators, and so

         19  forth.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: When you say a

         21  nexus with them, and you mentioned your cooperation

         22  also before with the Coast Guard.

         23                 ASSISTANT CHIEF KAMMERDENER: Yes.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: How is that

         25  done?
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          2                 ASSISTANT CHIEF KAMMERDENER: Okay.

          3  Basically the Coast Guard, we are a part of the

          4  Field Intelligence Support Team. That is members of

          5  the Coast Guard, the Joint Terrorism Task Force, the

          6  Intelligence Division, and the Naval Investigative

          7  Group. Also, the area Maritime Security Committee,

          8  which we are a part of. That is not only the Coast

          9  Guard, but ferry operators, pilot boat association,

         10  tug boats, local law enforcement, and we are more

         11  aligned with the operation sub- committee, which is

         12  all the law enforcement, New Jersey State Police,

         13  Homeland Security, and the Coast Guard and NYPD.

         14  This is everything from deployment to equipment,

         15  training and special operations, how we coordinate

         16  activities.

         17                 We are part of, also, the Operations

         18  sub- committee, which is again, law enforcement

         19  intelligence and aspects that we deal with.  On a

         20  daily basis, we confer with the Coast Guard relative

         21  to deployment of our resources, so there is, so to

         22  speak, no holes of where we are over deployed or

         23  under deployed.  We have members of the Intelligence

         24  Division that are assigned with the Coast Guard, as

         25  well as the Coast Guard has resources assigned
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          2  without Counter Terrorism Bureau.  We also have

          3  personnel from our department in the Intelligence

          4  Division and Counter Terrorism, that are assigned

          5  with the Department of Homeland Security.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Take us through

          7  a real life scenario then. If, let us say, the Coast

          8  Guard receives a warning, again, I am assuming it is

          9  the Coast Guard and not you, or maybe you both

         10  receive the warning, regarding a suspicious vessel

         11  entering the harbor, how do you coordinate?

         12                 ASSISTANT CHIEF KAMMERDENER: We would

         13  get notified of that.  There would be a nexus with

         14  our Intelligence Divisions and the Joint Terrorism

         15  Task Force.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Let us start

         17  from the beginning.  When you say we would get

         18  notified, is the Coast Guard notified, do you both

         19  get notified, how does that work?

         20                 ASSISTANT CHIEF KAMMERDENER: The

         21  Coast Guard would notify us.  It would probably be

         22  the first to get this information. That is based

         23  upon the nexus of information whether it be the

         24  vehicle, vessel tracking systems and the automated

         25  intelligence information that they get.  When we get
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          2  that information, we will provide whatever

          3  assistance is needed, whether it be aerial

          4  surveillance, whether it be dive capabilities of our

          5  scuba team, additional resources from our Harbor

          6  Unit, whether it be vessels or launches, and also

          7  the coordination between the Counter Terrorism

          8  Bureau, the Intelligence Division, and the JTTF.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: I am going to

         10  get back to that in a second, but you mentioned

         11  aerial.  When you testified, you said that you had

         12  26 launches.  I was going to ask you what other

         13  equipment do you have available to you?

         14                 ASSISTANT CHIEF KAMMERDENER: Well,

         15  part of the nexus with our Department of Special

         16  Operations Division particularly, is the

         17  availability of the Aviation Unit.  The Aviation

         18  Unit we have 24 hour air sea rescue capabilities.

         19  We always have two members of the Scuba Team

         20  assigned with Aviation at Floyd Bennett Field.  And

         21  we also have the ability to do radiation detection

         22  from an aerial platform.  It is a mobile detection

         23  system capable of identifying radiation.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: So, back to our

         25  scenario.  You have received this warning, now you
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          2  have coordinated through the top levels of command,

          3  what actually happens?  Who stops the ship? Who

          4  boards the ship?  How do you work in tandem with

          5  that?

          6                 ASSISTANT CHIEF KAMMERDENER: That

          7  would be the Coast Guard's responsibility.  We would

          8  provide whatever assistance is necessary.  For

          9  example, we work very closely with the Coast Guard

         10  with the Queen Mary.  It is a very comprehensive

         11  procedure when the Queen Mary comes in.  We actually

         12  board that ship about eight miles out at the Ambrose

         13  Light Tower with the Sandy Hook Pilot's Association

         14  providing the transport.  And in conjunction with

         15  the Coast Guard, the Intelligence Division, and the

         16  Emergency Service Unit, we actually board that ship

         17  and take it safely into harbor. That is also an

         18  escort provided into that berth by the Coast Guard

         19  Harbor Unit, and also aerial surveillance by the

         20  Aviation Unit.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: How far does

         22  your jurisdiction actually go?  What areas do you

         23  patrol normally?

         24                 ASSISTANT CHIEF KAMMERDENER: All the

         25  waterways of contingent to New York City, everything
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          2  from Throgs Neck, the bay, up to the George

          3  Washington Bridge, all around Staten Island and down

          4  south of the Verrazano Bridge to three miles out.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: So three miles

          6  out off the coast is your jurisdiction?

          7                 ASSISTANT CHIEF KAMMERDENER: Yes.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Okay.  You

          9  mentioned, I think we agree here, you said in your

         10  forth paragraph that there is a great deal of work

         11  to be done in enhancing the security of our ports.

         12  And Chairman Nelson said that we want to be as

         13  helpful as possible, so what changes would you

         14  recommend that you, as an expert, have seen?

         15                 ASSISTANT CHIEF KAMMERDENER: Well, we

         16  are constantly increasing our availability working

         17  very closely with other agencies, and also the

         18  community which is probably the key to this. With

         19  our Operation Nexus, we have well over 140

         20  vulnerable locations that are identified throughout

         21  the City.  This is everything from transportation

         22  hubs, hazardous material locations, government

         23  locations.  We visit those locations on a daily

         24  basis, not only with directed patrol, but with out

         25  Hercules Deployment. And so far, just the Harbor
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          2  Unit alone, has done just a little over 3,000 visits

          3  so far this year.  Working with the Counter

          4  Terrorism Bureau, all of the marinas and yacht clubs

          5  are identified.  We actually visit those locations.

          6  We give them information on how to report suspicious

          7  activity, and also training them what exactly is

          8  suspicious activity that they should be looking for.

          9    This can include someone looking to pay for items

         10  with cash, someone that is looking for a short term

         11  lease, when most boaters have a year long lease for

         12  a berth.  Looking at someone who is looking to rent

         13  a boat for fishing, but yet it is a speed boat.  So,

         14  all of those things are out of the norm, there is a

         15  very comprehensive list of information we provide

         16  them, and that is an ongoing relationship that we

         17  have with these individuals.

         18                 We have a very strong relationship

         19  with all the ferry companies, and also the water

         20  taxis.  We have all the information that was

         21  supplied with them, as far as the passenger

         22  capabilities of the vessel, crew members, how much

         23  life jackets, and so forth, they have on.  This

         24  information is available to all the patrol borough

         25  commanders, so should there be an incident, everyone
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          2  has instant access to all the information that would

          3  be needed, should we have to take action on any type

          4  of incident involving that particular vessel.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: I think you

          6  mentioned perhaps our most, our biggest area of

          7  vulnerability, and that is what begins in foreign

          8  ports, the actual loading of these containers, the

          9  fact that most of these ports we do not even have

         10  someone there to inspect what is being loaded, to

         11  make sure that what is being loaded, is exactly what

         12  it says in the bill of lading.  Not much,

         13  unfortunately, we can do about that here at the City

         14  Hall level, but what improvements do you think we

         15  could make here locally, that we might be able to

         16  assist you with, or that we should just call for?

         17                 ASSISTANT CHIEF KAMMERDENER: Well,

         18  that is the responsibility of the Coast Guard and

         19  the Customs and Border Protection.  It is Congress'

         20  responsibility to really identify ways of looking at

         21  all of these cargos, how do we inspect all of these

         22  cargos that come in, and also provide the

         23  appropriate funding that we can accomplish that.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Well, Congress

         25  did not bother to mention to us that China owned the
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          2  Staten Island port, until the Dubai deal, and so

          3  that is why I am going to be working with you, off

          4  the record, to come up with some suggestions.  Let

          5  me give you, for example, New Jersey, I am told, has

          6  empowered its State Marine law enforcement, to

          7  assist the Coast Guard in the enforcement of safety

          8  and security zones around designated areas.  Do you

          9  have that power already, would you like that sort of

         10  situation here in New York?

         11                 ASSISTANT CHIEF KAMMERDENER: We have

         12  that power. The safety zone is actually a temporary

         13  restriction for vessel traffic to special events.

         14  For the most part, the 4th of July fireworks, those

         15  dinner boats, and other vessels have to maintain a

         16  certain distance from the fireworks' barges.  The

         17  security zones are more a fixed security zone.  For

         18  example, 150 yards from the United Nations, 100

         19  yards from airports, 500 yards from a naval ship,

         20  100 yards from passenger ships, and so forth.  We

         21  can enforce that, anything suspicious, we will take

         22  action on that, and notify the Coast Guard.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: You have that

         24  power now?

         25                 ASSISTANT CHIEF KAMMERDENER: Yes.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Okay.  I am

          3  going to turn it over to Co-chair Nelson.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON NELSON: Thank you, Mr.

          5  Chair.  You have jurisdiction of approximately three

          6  miles out or exactly three miles out?

          7                 ASSISTANT CHIEF KAMMERDENER: Yes.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON NELSON: But you are out

          9  eight miles that time, did that cause any problems

         10  for the NYPD?

         11                 ASSISTANT CHIEF KAMMERDENER: No, that

         12  has not caused problems.  That is something that is

         13  being worked on by our legal department.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON NELSON: Good.

         15                 ASSISTANT CHIEF KAMMERDENER: However,

         16  it is important that we get out there with the Sandy

         17  Hook Pilots Association.  That is the only area that

         18  we actually board, and we can provide that safe

         19  transport, in addition to what we have outside the

         20  vessel, for probably a very potential target, like

         21  the Queen Mary.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON NELSON: Good, I am glad

         23  to hear that. I hate to see the ship stop at three

         24  miles, okay, and the bad guys get away.

         25                 All right, this is not totally along
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          2  my line of questioning, but the State of Jersey has

          3  empowered its State Marine law enforcement officers

          4  to assist the U.S. Coast Guard, and the enforcement

          5  of safety and security zones along designated areas.

          6  Do we have the same power to assist the Coast Guard

          7  to enforce those zones?  Or do they have to call the

          8  Coast Guard?

          9                 ASSISTANT CHIEF KAMMERDENER: We call

         10  the Coast Guard, but we will take action.  We have

         11  certain legal abilities that we have right now, that

         12  if we see a suspicious vehicle, whether it is boat

         13  inspection, stop and frisk, we will challenge that

         14  individual.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON NELSON: Because time can

         16  obviously, be of the essence.  That is good.

         17                 ASSISTANT CHIEF KAMMERDENER: We are

         18  not going to compromise the safety of the citizens

         19  of New York, by not taking action.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON NELSON: Great. Glad to

         21  hear that, we all are.

         22                 We are putting on approximately 800

         23  officers and 400 civilians which technically, I

         24  hope, about 1200 officers.  Do you know if Harbor

         25  would be getting any of those assigned?
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          2                 ASSISTANT CHIEF KAMMERDENER: That

          3  would be up to the Police Commissioner.  But right

          4  now, we have the resources.  Those resources are

          5  better utilized, and that is part of the integration

          6  of all the other units within the Department.

          7                 For example, if you look at the 4th

          8  of July fireworks, on one of the launches, we have

          9  Emergency Service Tactical Teams, that should there

         10  be some type of a terrorist incident, we can

         11  actually board that with tactical teams with heavy

         12  vests, helmets and heavy weapons.  We also have task

         13  forces, that if it is of a disorderly group nature

         14  on a vessel, we will board that vessel and take

         15  appropriate action.  We have predetermined locations

         16  that we will take those individuals, where they will

         17  met by additional members of the Borough Task

         18  Forces.

         19                 We have extensive training with our

         20  units.  It is no secret.  It has been in the news.

         21  We have had a variance of exercises at the Statue of

         22  Liberty.  Just a few months ago, we did an exercise

         23  simulating a terrorist incident on a dinner vessel

         24  in the Hudson River, and that was with everything

         25  from, being able to fast rope on to that boat,

                                                            27

          1  WATERFRONTS AND PUBLIC SAFETY COMMITTEES

          2  tactical teams, snipers from helicopters.  So, there

          3  is a variance of techniques that we practice, should

          4  there be an incident.  We are well versed on how to

          5  handle that particular incident.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON NELSON: Thank you, Chief.

          7

          8                 Also, we have been joined by Council

          9  Members Melinda Katz, Jimmy Oddo and Alan Gerson and

         10  Councilman Dan Garodnick.

         11                 Are all of your vessels located at

         12  Floyd Bennett Field?

         13                 ASSISTANT CHIEF KAMMERDENER: No,

         14  their Harbor Unit is deployed throughout the City.

         15  We have several sites located strategically around

         16  the City.  For the most part, Howard Beach, Harbor

         17  Charlies and the Brooklyn Armory Terminal, we have

         18  College Point and also Randalls Island.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON NELSON: Are they

         20  patrolling day and night, like 24 hours, or only --

         21                 ASSISTANT CHIEF KAMMERDENER: No, 24

         22  hours, and that is augmented also, by the Aviation

         23  Unit at 24 hours.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON NELSON: Okay, this system

         25  scenario that we thought of earlier, the coal
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          2  incident, where there was not a nuclear type of

          3  thing, God forbid, but just to have a vessel explode

          4  near a tanker, which would probably unleash an awful

          5  lot of, thousands of gallons of oil.  Has that been

          6  looked at as a scenario, and to have a response to

          7  prevent this from happening?

          8                 ASSISTANT CHIEF KAMMERDENER: We have

          9  the response, but that is also what we do with our

         10  directed patrol, and also escorts.  For example,

         11  some of those tankers that come in are escorted by

         12  the Coast Guard, whether it be us, or also the New

         13  Jersey State Police.  So, there is an escort for

         14  some of those tankers, especially the liquid

         15  petroleum gas tankers.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON NELSON: So, it would be

         17  extremely difficult for any of these vehicles to get

         18  close enough to incur that much damage.

         19                 ASSISTANT CHIEF KAMMERDENER: Yes and

         20  no. We actually change some of the type of vessels

         21  we have.  We now have two of what we call safe

         22  boats, but these are a lot faster than the other

         23  vessels we have.  Most of the vessels we have might

         24  go 30 to 35 miles an hour, the safe boats go 50

         25  miles an hour, and that is extremely fast.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON NELSON: A few of us

          3  visited the Coast Guard facility in Staten Island,

          4  and we were impressed with the amount of cooperation

          5  they were telling us they had with the NYPD, and

          6  other agencies, which made a lot of us feel a lot

          7  better and more secure, as a matter of fact.  So, I

          8  want to compliment that, because the last thing we

          9  need is competition among agencies, you know, a la

         10  CIA, FBI and this one, well, we will do it for

         11  ourselves and next thing you know, you got guys

         12  doing flight training in Oklahoma, you know.

         13                 ASSISTANT CHIEF KAMMERDENER: There is

         14  an extreme amount of cooperation, not only on a

         15  daily basis, but for special events, whether it be a

         16  Presidential visit, the United States, General of

         17  the United Nations General Assembly, the Republican

         18  National Convention.  We have always worked very

         19  closely with the United States Coast Guard for these

         20  venues.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON NELSON: Thank you, Chief.

         22                 Would any of my colleagues have any

         23  questions?

         24                 Council Member Gerson.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Good
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          2  afternoon.

          3                 ASSISTANT CHIEF KAMMERDENER: Good

          4  afternoon.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: With all due

          6  respect to the gentlemen, it is a special pleasure

          7  to see Miss Petito.  We go way back.  It is good to

          8  see you.

          9                 Just one question, I want to tap into

         10  your expertise to get your assessment, what is the

         11  role, or the function of the private companies which

         12  manage our ports, with respect to security, and how

         13  important are they, when it comes to the issue of

         14  security? And I ask this as kind of a general plan,

         15  I do not really want to get into the specific

         16  controversies related to any particular company, you

         17  know, one way or the other.  I just, it would

         18  certainly help me, I think it would help all of us,

         19  to get your perception, and I would hope subsequent

         20  witnesses, and I may not be here for you, and I

         21  apologize in advance, but I will be looking at the

         22  record, I hope subsequent witnesses would also

         23  address it.  It would help us understand really, to

         24  what extent are they relevant to security, the

         25  private port managers, are they irrelevant to
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          2  security?  What do we expect of them with respect to

          3  security?  How important, not at all, very

          4  important, how do they interact with you the role of

          5  the private company port managers.  If you could

          6  just address that, that would be very helpful.

          7                 ASSISTANT CHIEF KAMMERDENER: Well,

          8  basically not only vessels, but facility managers

          9  are required to provide security plans to the United

         10  States Coast Guard.  That is there responsibility to

         11  have these plans, and review these plans. Certainly

         12  all of these plans should give extensive

         13  information, not only about the facility and the

         14  cargo that passes through it, but also employees,

         15  trucking companies, anything that might enter or

         16  leave that particular facility.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: And these

         18  plans are presented for approval or for information?

         19    What is the status of these plans?

         20                 ASSISTANT CHIEF KAMMERDENER: Well,

         21  this is both, information and approval.  That is the

         22  Coast Guard's responsibility, and it is their

         23  responsibility to review the plans, and if they are

         24  not appropriate, to ask further questions of the

         25  facility, or the vessel.

                                                            32

          1  WATERFRONTS AND PUBLIC SAFETY COMMITTEES

          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: And then the

          3  implementation of the plans would be the first

          4  responsibility of the port managers?  Is that

          5  correct?

          6                 ASSISTANT CHIEF KAMMERDENER: That is

          7  correct.  And the Coast Guard, to make sure it is

          8  being complied with.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: So, it sounds

         10  like among their other roles, it is fair to say that

         11  the port manager has a significant security role to

         12  play.

         13                 ASSISTANT CHIEF KAMMERDENER: Yes.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Okay.  Thank

         15  you very much.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON NELSON: Thank you,

         17  Council Member Gerson.

         18                 To follow up on that, in addition to

         19  coming up with the security plan, which then

         20  submitted to the Coast Guard for approval, is not

         21  the operator of the port responsible for hiring and

         22  firing security officers?

         23                 ASSISTANT CHIEF KAMMERDENER: That is

         24  the Captain of the Port's responsibility, not the

         25  NYPD.  When we look at these facilities, and the
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          2  amount of workers they are working then, and the

          3  type of cargo that comes in, and the inspection

          4  procedures, that is all Coast Guard and the Customs

          5  and Border Protection responsibility.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: When you say

          7  Captain of the Port, you mean Coast Guard?

          8                 ASSISTANT CHIEF KAMMERDENER: Coast

          9  Guard, yes.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Okay.  We have

         11  read, and been informed, that the actual security

         12  guards at the location are hired by the operating

         13  company, as opposed to the Captain of the Port. Do

         14  you have any information on that?

         15                 ASSISTANT CHIEF KAMMERDENER: That

         16  would be the facility's responsibility, but those

         17  people, and who they are, whether it be the

         18  Waterfront Commission, or whether it be the Customs

         19  and Border Protection, that is their responsibility

         20  to review these people, and if there is any criminal

         21  record's checks and so forth, that would be their

         22  responsibility, not the New York City Police

         23  Department.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: The Waterfronts

         25  Commission and Port Authority will be testifying, so
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          2  we will ask them.

          3                 UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER: Thank you.  I

          4  would be remiss if I did not thank the people who

          5  did the heavy lifting for this committee meeting,

          6  and that is the Committee on Public Safety, Theodore

          7  Becker, Janine Ventura, Jeffrey Baker and

          8  Waterfronts, Neal Kromley and my Chief of Staff,

          9  Robert Varley, who had spent a lot of time putting

         10  this together.  I thank them.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Is that it for

         12  the police?

         13                 Okay, with that, we really always

         14  appreciate the work that you men and women do at the

         15  Police Department. And knowing, I do not think you

         16  have ever had a more important mission than this,

         17  and it is terrific that you are so involved and

         18  coordinated.  So, we thank you all very much.

         19                 ASSISTANT CHIEF KAMMERDENER: Okay,

         20  thank you.  And on behalf of the Commissioner

         21  Raymond Kelly, thank you for this opportunity to

         22  testify before your committee.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: I was going to

         24  thank you for both the tour of the Coast Guard

         25  facility, and when you took my committee on a tour
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          2  of your facility.  Both gave us a great deal of

          3  knowledge as to what you do.  And we look forward to

          4  working with you all and to keep the City safe.

          5  Thank you.

          6                 ASSISTANT CHIEF KAMMERDENER: Thank

          7  you.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: The next panel

          9  testifying, will be from the Port Authority.  We

         10  have Mr. Richard Larrabee, the Director of the Port

         11  Commerce Department, and Miss Rooney, who is also

         12  with the Port Commerce Department.  I believe it is

         13  Bethann Rooney.

         14                 Let me first thank you for coming

         15  down here today. And many times we make requests of

         16  agencies that are not City agencies, and we

         17  appreciate the fact that you came down here, and

         18  this is such an important issue that you wish to be

         19  heard before the City's representative.  So, thank

         20  you very much, and you may begin.

         21                 MR. LARRABEE: Mr. Chairman, thank you

         22  very much.  We appreciate the opportunity this

         23  afternoon, to testify before this committee, on an

         24  issue that is very important to us.

         25                 I am Rear Admiral Richard M.
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          2  Larrabee, United States Coast Guard, retired and

          3  currently the Director of Port Commerce for the Port

          4  Authority of New York and New Jersey.  And with me

          5  today is Miss Bethann Rooney, who is General Manager

          6  for port security for the Port Commerce Department.

          7                 This afternoon, I would like to

          8  discuss five key points, the vital nature of our

          9  ports and the maritime transportation system to our

         10  nation, the terrorist risk to those ports, what we

         11  have done since 911 to address

         12  those risks, the challenges that remain, and

         13  finally, what this committee can do to help us.  I

         14  would ask that my full testimony be entered into the

         15  record.

         16                 Mr. Chairman, the vital nature of our

         17  ports, I think, is evident, and particularly over

         18  the last month, we have heard a great deal more

         19  about the issue of port security.  Today,

         20  international trade amounts to about 30 percent of

         21  the U.S. Economy.  Nearly 95 percent of that trade

         22  comes to this nation by way of ship, through our 361

         23  ports.  Over 12 percent of that cargo is handled by

         24  this port alone.  And we generate some 232,000 jobs

         25  and nearly $13 billion dollars in wages for the
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          2  region.

          3                 Cargo handled by our port is valued

          4  at about $132 billion dollars a year, and serves 80

          5  million people living around the port, in the ten

          6  state region.

          7                 Mr. Chairman, considering all of

          8  this, it is easy to see how a terrorist incident in

          9  our nation's ports would have a devastating effect

         10  on our country and its economy.  From our

         11  perspective, the most difficult concept to

         12  understand is threat, mostly because it is a moving

         13  target, and terrorists are devising new tactics

         14  every day.  There is, however, a number of threat

         15  concerns that are of behavior, that might, most

         16  likely therefore be the kinds of things that we

         17  might expect in a maritime scenario. This includes

         18  the use of ports or vessels as means to smuggle

         19  weapons of mass destruction, or terrorist operatives

         20  in the United States, the use of ships as a weapon

         21  to attack critical infrastructure, the scuttling of

         22  a ship in a major shipping channel, and terrorist

         23  attacks on ships, such as ferries and oil tankers.

         24  The maritime transportation systems vulnerability,

         25  with the likelihood that the safeguards will fail,
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          2  is complicated by the general nature and openness of

          3  our ports, with hundreds of miles of shorelines of

          4  facilities that have historically been public access

          5  areas.

          6                 Additionally, the movement of cargo

          7  has been built on a tenant of speed, reliability and

          8  cost, not necessarily security.  And therefor the

          9  sheer volume of containers that move through our

         10  U.S. Ports on a daily basis, make them, each one of

         11  them, a potential Trojan Horse.  The consequences of

         12  a terrorist attack, by means of a maritime industry,

         13  would have an overwhelming and devastating and

         14  lasting effect on our region and on our nation. Not

         15  only could there be a significant death and

         16  destruction, but the national and global economies

         17  would be devastated.  It is estimated that for every

         18  day that a port is shut down, it would take us seven

         19  days to recover.  And as evidenced by the west coast

         20  labor strike three years ago, a ten day shut down

         21  would amount to about a $1 billion dollar a day in

         22  loss to our economy.               While we cannot

         23  do anything to address the threat, we can use our

         24  understanding of the threat to make infrastructure

         25  improvements, create policies programs and
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          2  procedures, that can help reduce our vulnerability

          3  and the consequences to mitigate the overall risk.

          4                 Since 911, we have seen significant

          5  improvements in that system.  We have taken on what

          6  we call a layered approach, and we will talk about

          7  the complexity of the system that supports our

          8  maritime transportation system, but the reality is,

          9  that there is no silver bullet in terms of fixing

         10  some of the problems that you will talk about today.

         11    We need to find multiple ways of doing that.

         12                 Roles and responsibilities are

         13  clearly an issue and have been since 911.  We have

         14  seen improvements in this area.  As you heard in

         15  previous testimony, the United States Coast Guard

         16  and Coast Guard Captain of the Port, specifically

         17  has responsibilities overall for our port security

         18  and Customs and Border Protection plays a

         19  significant role in terms of cargo security.

         20                 The physical security of our port has

         21  been strengthened through a federal law called The

         22  Maritime Transportation Security Act of 2002, which

         23  went into effect in July of '04.  And that security

         24  needs to be assessed and assessments be conducted,

         25  security plans written and adhered to, and security
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          2  officers appointed, and all personnel trained in

          3  security.  There are currently 197 regulated

          4  facilities here within this Captain of the Port

          5  zone.  Of those 197 facilities, just thirteen of

          6  them are on Port Authority property.  Under the

          7  MTSA, the Port Authority is only responsible for the

          8  security at our public berths and other critical

          9  infrastructure of the port facility, such as

         10  roadways and as we heard earlier, it is the facility

         11  operator who has responsibility for their area.

         12                 Immediately after 911, the Port

         13  Authority formed two committees in order to

         14  facilitate the exchange of critical security

         15  information and best practices.  The Tenant Security

         16  Working Group meets on a monthly basis to talk about

         17  requirements and improve their ability to provide

         18  security there for their facilities.  We have also

         19  constituted and supported a law enforcement security

         20  committee which the NYPD is a part of, and this is

         21  another group who gets together on a regular basis

         22  to talk about ways of improving our system.

         23                 And finally, the one committee that I

         24  think has the most effect is headed by the Coast

         25  Guard, and that is the Area Maritime Security.  This
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          2  is a cooperative effort on the part of federal

          3  agencies, state agencies and the industry, in order

          4  to not only adhere to current requirements, but to

          5  better prepare for a response, and to make sure that

          6  we are doing everything possible.

          7                 Mr. Chairman, America's consumer

          8  driven market now depends upon a very efficient

          9  logistics chain, in which the nation's ports are

         10  just a single link.  Today, a new imperative

         11  national security is imposing itself on that system.

         12    The potential for terrorist activity stretches

         13  from where the cargo is stuffed into a container

         14  overseas to any point along the cargo's route, to

         15  its ultimate destination.  And our goal should be to

         16  increase our confidence that we know exactly what is

         17  in that container, before it is loaded onto a ship

         18  headed for a U.S. Port.  The key is finding a way of

         19  separating high risk cargos from the vast majority

         20  of legitimate containers, and then dealing with the

         21  exceptions. This approach requires a systematic

         22  understanding of the logistic's chain, and now moves

         23  that container from any place in the world to the

         24  distribution center here in this region.  A typical

         25  container movement includes 14 different modes and
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          2  30 organizations, and could generate as much as 30

          3  to 40 different documents with over 200 data

          4  elements.  Today, there is no mandatory security

          5  standards when loading a container at a manufactured

          6  point of consolidation. Cargo is transferred from

          7  one mode of conveyance to another, and there is no

          8  standard now, for how this is done with the

          9  accountability for the integrity of that container,

         10  as it changes hands.

         11                 We believe the efforts must be taken

         12  to verify the contents of the container before they

         13  are ever loaded on a ship destined for a U.S. Port.

         14  A chain of custody must be established that ensures

         15  the cargo's integrity, and requires the complete and

         16  accurate data be provided to the customs, well in

         17  advance of that ship's arrival in the United States.

         18                 Many programs that the Bureau of

         19  Customs and Water Protection have implemented in the

         20  last four years at our terminals, are all valuable

         21  elements of a layered security, and must be

         22  supported, and the necessary funds and support for

         23  our federal agencies.

         24                 Mr. Chairman, there are a number of

         25  other areas that I would be happy to talk about.
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          2  We, for instance, are one of the leading ports, in

          3  terms of imbedding radiation detection systems at

          4  our port, and at the end of this year, every single

          5  container that goes out of this port, will go

          6  through a radiation screening device.

          7                 We have some significant challenges

          8  remaining and I would like to touch on a couple of

          9  those briefly.  You talked about one earlier with

         10  the NYPD, and that is, water site security. Today,

         11  if you read the Coast Guard's regulations, it

         12  requires that facility operator to maintain that

         13  portion of their facility.  We think that is a

         14  responsibility that should be handled by law

         15  enforcement and providing the necessary resources

         16  for the Coast Guard to do that, and to do it in

         17  conjunction with law enforcement like the NYPD and

         18  the New Jersey State Police, is essential. Having

         19  the laws in place to allow those agencies to enforce

         20  those security zones, as you pointed out earlier, I

         21  think, is an essential next step.

         22                 Credentialing (sic.) Is critical.

         23  There is a program in place today in the federal

         24  level called The Transportation Workers

         25  Identification card.  There is a clear need to see
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          2  this card implemented as soon as possible, and

          3  perhaps we can talk about that a little bit later.

          4                 There is also a need, I think, to

          5  realize that as much as we could put in the way of

          6  prevention, we need to be prepared to respond to and

          7  mitigate an incident.  As I eluded to earlier in my

          8  testimony, the simple fact is that this system is

          9  still very open.  It is vulnerable, and we need to

         10  be better prepared to respond to, and mitigate an

         11  incident.  The opportunity for doing economic damage

         12  is significant here, and as I gave examples earlier

         13  of ports being closed, we live in a "just in time"

         14  society.  Closing a port would have a devastating

         15  effect on that continuous supply of goods,

         16  petroleum, petroleum products, and other

         17  manufactured goods are an essential part of our

         18  economy, and an awful lot of that supply chain would

         19  stop.

         20                 One of the issues that we might want

         21  to get into this afternoon, is the issue of federal

         22  funding and the grant programs.  I think, in

         23  general, where we have applied both in terms of

         24  agencies and entities in this area, and the Port

         25  Authority included in that, we have not gotten, in
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          2  our estimation, a significant portion of the federal

          3  funds made available through that grant program, and

          4  we think a provenance could be made there. Secretary

          5  Chartoff's concept of going to a more risk- based

          6  approach, is something that we would support.

          7                 Mr Chairman, I would ask this

          8  committee to do a couple of things for us.  First of

          9  all, we would like to accept an open invitation from

         10  the Port Authority to members of this committee and

         11  your staff, to visit the port and become a little

         12  bit more educated on some of the issues that we will

         13  talk about this afternoon.  Your influence with New

         14  York State and U.S. Congress to promote such issues,

         15  as the imperative for supply chain security, and the

         16  deployment of the Transportation Worker's

         17  Identification card, would be most helpful.  Support

         18  legislation that would give the Port Authority

         19  police, and other local law enforcement agencies,

         20  the ability to enforce federal laws once the

         21  appropriate memorandums of understanding have been

         22  executed.

         23                 Mr. Chairman, I think it is important

         24  that we collectively continue to work toward

         25  improving this system.  We feel that a lot of
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          2  improvements have been made since 911, but clearly,

          3  there is more to be done.  And I hope my comments

          4  this afternoon, my testimony, and the answers to

          5  some of your questions, can help this committee do

          6  your work.  Thank you for the opportunity to be

          7  here.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Thank you and

          9  thank you for those suggestions.  We are already

         10  working on them, passing, introducing resolutions,

         11  calling for exactly those things.

         12                 Let us start with some basics.  How

         13  many police officers does the Port Authority have

         14  and how many are assigned to port duty?

         15                 MR. LARRABEE: I do not have the exact

         16  number.  I would say that the size of our police

         17  force is about 1300.  And of that, we probably have

         18  about 50 officers who are assigned on a daily basis

         19  to port facilities, but obviously that could be

         20  supported by a larger contingent when necessary.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Do you also

         22  have, do you have any harbor boats or anything of

         23  that nature?

         24                 MR. LARRABEE: We do not.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Okay.  Do you
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          2  use any private security?

          3                 MR. LARRABEE: Private security is the

          4  responsibility, as I said earlier, of our

          5  facilities.  Where we have responsibilities in

          6  public spaces and at public berths, we hire security

          7  guards when the ship is at the dock.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Just can you

          9  clarify that a little bit more.  You hire security

         10  guards when the ship is at the dock.  What does that

         11  mean?

         12                 MR. LARRABEE: The Coast Guard

         13  requires that when a ship is at a dock, that certain

         14  level of security be provided.  At the Port

         15  Authority's public berths, those are berths that are

         16  available to anyone to lease on a daily basis,

         17  instead of having a foreign interest having to go

         18  through the process of hiring a security guard, we

         19  take on that responsibility.  We hire the necessary

         20  security guards and provide the necessary security.

         21  We actually charge that shipping line for that

         22  service.  And that actually has worked out very well

         23  for us.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: In addition, the

         25  private company operating the port, they also hire
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          2  their own security?

          3                 MR. LARRABEE: The facility operator

          4  is required by law to hire their own security

          5  guards.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Okay.

          7  Obviously, that is one of the problems, the fact

          8  that foreign companies, as we speak, own most of our

          9  ports.  In fact, how may of our locations here in

         10  New York/New Jersey area, are owned by foreign

         11  companies?

         12                 MR. LARRABEE: Cannot speak to the

         13  other facilities in the port.  In our case, we have

         14  foreign ownership at Howland Hook.  We have foreign

         15  ownership at APM Maersk.  We have foreign ownership

         16  at Port Newark Container Terminal in Port Newark.

         17  And at Global, which is not one of our facilities,

         18  there is also foreign ownership.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Regarding that

         20  ownership, what type of interaction do you have with

         21  regard to security concerns with the private

         22  operator on a daily basis?

         23                 MR. LARRABEE: Well, understand that

         24  we are what is termed a landlord port.  We lease

         25  property to companies that operate those facilities.
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          2    Now this goes to both containers and automobiles,

          3  and any other commodities that are brought in by

          4  ship. Our relationship is based on the terms of that

          5  lease.  An element of that lease is delineated in

          6  the roles and responsibilities of the two parties.

          7  That facility operator, by law, is subject to the

          8  Coast Guard regulations.  And so all of the

          9  requirements today are being met.

         10                 You heard in earlier testimony that

         11  they, like we, provide security plans to the Coast

         12  guard which are approved.  The Coast Guard verifies

         13  those.  All of the personnel involved, for instance,

         14  the security guards that are hired are all people

         15  that are cleared by the Waterfront Commission, go

         16  through a background check, and I will let the

         17  Waterfront Commission talk about the details of

         18  that.  All of our ILA members are background

         19  checked, all of the officers of our companies are

         20  background checked.  So from the standpoint of that

         21  kind of access, I think this port is well ahead of

         22  many of the ports in the nation, because of the

         23  unique nature of the role of the Waterfront

         24  Commission.  We have a tremendous advantage when it

         25  comes to this whole question of background checks,
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          2  and access control, in our facilities.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: That is good to

          4  know.  However, when the Dubai deal was in progress,

          5  you filed a lawsuit to prevent that takeover, and

          6  you cited security concerns.  What were those

          7  concerns?

          8                 MR. LARRABEE: I am sorry.  I cannot

          9  speak to any of the issues surrounding that, because

         10  we still have a pending lawsuit.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: That is

         12  unfortunate.  But when that is terminated, we look

         13  forward to speaking with you about that.

         14                 Well, let us just ask in general.

         15  When an operator seeks to lease from you as

         16  landlord, are you required to, or do you do

         17  background checks on that operator?

         18                 MR. LARRABEE: We do relatively

         19  significant due diligence from a business

         20  standpoint.  But in terms of background checks, I am

         21  not aware that we conduct any personal background

         22  checks.  What I will tell you, though, is that we

         23  rely on the Waterfront Commission's licensing

         24  process.  And each officer of that company is

         25  required to have a background check, in conjunction
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          2  with that process.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Well, I am

          4  assuming those would be criminal background checks.

          5  The company itself, who is responsible for proving,

          6  if we are doing a background check on a company?

          7                 MR. LARRABEE:  The Waterfront

          8  Commission would also do that.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: All right, let

         10  me move on because of that lawsuit, you are not

         11  going to be able to answer the rest of the questions

         12  that I was going to ask you on that.

         13                 Let me first recognize some council

         14  members who joined us.  We have Council Member

         15  Gentile, Council Member Foster and I believe I saw

         16  Brewer at some point.  Thank you all for joining us.

         17                 Regarding background checks, as you

         18  probably know, there was a recent Department of

         19  Homeland Security report, preliminary report, which

         20  stated that nearly half of the drivers coming in and

         21  out of your facilities, were not checked, and had

         22  possible criminal histories.  As far as I understand

         23  that you are responsible for the background checks

         24  regarding drivers, and I would like you to comment

         25  on that report.
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          2                 MR. LARRABEE: I cannot get into great

          3  detail because that report is security sensitive,

          4  and I do not think I can do that in an open forum.

          5  What I will tell you, and will describe to you, is

          6  the Sea Link card, which is the card that we are

          7  referring to. Sea Link was a service that we put in

          8  place several years before 911.  It was a system

          9  that would allow for driver identification, which

         10  means that a company which hires a driver would

         11  provide a letter of employment.  That driver would

         12  present that letter of employment from the company,

         13  along with a driver's license.  We would issue an

         14  identification card, that would associate that

         15  driver with that company, with a laminated card and

         16  a picture of that driver.  That card is being used

         17  today as an identification card to associate a

         18  driver with a company, which is authorized to pick

         19  up a box at one of our terminals.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: You have not

         21  mentioned any criminal background check in that

         22  entire process.

         23                 MR. LARRABEE: There was no criminal

         24  background check involved in that, and no license

         25  verification.  Now in the last couple of months, we
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          2  have begun to look at how we might strengthen that

          3  card.

          4                 And I would like to also bring in to

          5  perspective in this discussion, the notion that in

          6  2002, the federal government announced the

          7  authorization of the Transportation Workers'

          8  Identification card.  And I made reference to that

          9  in my testimony. This is an issue that I think

         10  supports and underscores the need for that card to

         11  be issued as soon as possible.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: I am amazed, as

         13  you are, that it is now almost five years after 911,

         14  and the federal government has not completed the

         15  program regarding this card.  And they still have

         16  not issued it.  And that card obviously would

         17  encompass criminal background checks?

         18                 MR. LARRABEE: That is my

         19  understanding.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Right now, I

         21  mean.  Maybe you do not know me, but people in this

         22  room know me, and I do not rely on the State for

         23  anything.  And maybe we can throw the federal

         24  government in there, when it comes to this.  But

         25  right now, until the federal government gets its act
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          2  together, who is responsible for criminal background

          3  checks of drivers who are taking, who are present at

          4  our ports?

          5                 MISS ROONEY: Mr. Chairman, under the

          6  current regulations, under the current Coast Guard

          7  regulations, a criminal background check is not --

          8                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: I am sorry,

          9  could you please state your name for the record?

         10                 MISS ROONEY: I am sorry, Beth Rooney,

         11  manager of Port Security.

         12                 Under the current Coast Guard

         13  regulations, a criminal background check is not

         14  required, in order to access restricted areas in

         15  marine terminals.  In fact, the only thing that is

         16  required is a laminated, tamper proof identification

         17  card with your photo and your name and the issuing

         18  authority.  Nonetheless --

         19                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: You can get into

         20  a bar with that, too, but they are not really all

         21  that reliable.

         22                 MISS ROONEY: Nonetheless, what we

         23  have in this port, which is unique in this port, is

         24  in fact, the Waterfront Commission, who you will

         25  hear from later.  We are not currently authorized by
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          2  legislation to conduct background checks.  And in

          3  fact, we need legislation to conduct background

          4  checks on our own employees, let alone these

          5  trucking companies that are not employees of the

          6  Port Authority.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Who is

          8  authorized by legislation to do the background

          9  checks, and would you support legislation that would

         10  allow you to do it also?

         11                 MISS ROONEY: The federal government,

         12  right now, is the only entity, except for the

         13  Waterfront Commission, that is authorized to do

         14  background checks.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: So the

         16  Waterfront Commission, they do background checks now

         17  on everyone who works at the ports?

         18                 MISS ROONEY: Their jurisdiction,

         19  we'll let Mr. DiMaria (phonetic) talk about that,

         20  but their jurisdiction right now is limited to

         21  longshoremen, to laborers, not to trucking companies

         22  or anyone else who has access.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Thanks for

         24  clearing, that is exactly what I was getting at, but

         25  thank you for making that more clear.
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          2                 So, the longshoremen are checked by

          3  the Waterfront Commission, but right now the drivers

          4  are, they are not under the Waterfront Commission's

          5  background checks and they are not checked by

          6  anybody?

          7                 MISS ROONEY: That is correct.  They

          8  are not.  The only other entity that can do a

          9  background check on a trucking company, on a

         10  trucker, would be the trucking company itself.  And

         11  that would be under DOT regulations.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: City DOT?

         13                 MISS ROONEY: U.S. Department of

         14  Transportation.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Okay, I am just,

         16  you know, dumb- founded that almost five years after

         17  911, we do not even have criminal background checks

         18  of drivers who have access to our ports, especially

         19  after a Homeland Security Commission report cited

         20  that as a problem.

         21                 How much longer do you think we

         22  should wait on the federal government to implement

         23  this before we do something on our own to implement

         24  background checks?

         25                 MR. LARRABEE: That is an issue that
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          2  we are looking at right now.  We are looking at, it

          3  is sort of the time line that we think exists now,

          4  and we believe by the middle of 2007, we will see

          5  this TWIC card put in place.  The question is, what

          6  do we do in the meantime?  We are looking right now

          7  at the opportunity to do at least a license

          8  verification, which would go at least one step more,

          9  in terms of some of the issues that report raised.

         10                 But, very frankly, as you can well

         11  imagine, we are talking about a Transportation

         12  Workers' Identification card that does not just

         13  cover the 57,000 truckers who would call on our

         14  port. We are talking about a system that would

         15  provide that same background check, for every single

         16  person who is involved in the National

         17  Transportation System, aviation, surface, ports, it

         18  is a huge, huge undertaking and I know you can

         19  appreciate that.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: So even a truck

         21  driver carrying hazardous materials is not subject

         22  to any background check?

         23                 MR. LARRABEE: No, in that case there

         24  is, I believe, a background check required for that

         25  specific license.  But that is not a license that is
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          2  generally carried by all of the independent truckers

          3  who serve the port.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: And who does

          5  that background check?  That is, in order to obtain

          6  the license originally?

          7                 MR. LARRABEE: Correct.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: So that would be

          9  by DOT?

         10                 MR. LARRABEE: Right.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Okay.  Okay, I

         12  have many more questions, but I will turn it over to

         13  Chair Nelson and the other council members first.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON NELSON: Yea, it is

         15  upsetting, of course. Homeland Security has been in

         16  existence for some time.  We would have thought that

         17  they would have been really pressing down on this.

         18  Okay.  I am sure you must be infuriated by some of

         19  the stuff that has happened.

         20                 Well, Chair Vallone really went into

         21  some of the stuff that I was going to go into with

         22  the truck drivers, and so on.

         23                 If you could expand on, you only have

         24  about 25 percent of the funding that you need.  We

         25  know that Houston is getting a heck of a lot of
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          2  money based on whatever point plan they came up with

          3  in D.C.  If you can expand upon more that you would

          4  need and rapidly, I would imagine, finding for any

          5  particular measures that you would like to see it go

          6  into?

          7                 MR. LARRABEE: Over the last five

          8  years, the Port Authority alone has spent in excess

          9  of $600 million dollars on security issues.  In out

         10  port, we have spent in the neighborhood of $60 to

         11  $70 million dollars, and that is broken down into

         12  two categories.  One, obviously, is capital

         13  improvements, and that includes things like improved

         14  fencing and lighting.  We have added security

         15  cameras throughout the port with greater

         16  surveillance over our port's activities.

         17                 But an awful lot of those costs are

         18  also associated with our operating expenses.  And

         19  when we go from one level of terrorist condition to

         20  the next, we spend a significant amount of money on

         21  man power, and overtime, and operating expenses

         22  become a significant burden.

         23                 We are looking at a couple of ways of

         24  improving our financial situation, as a result of

         25  that.  One of which is obviously, to be pushing for

                                                            60

          1  WATERFRONTS AND PUBLIC SAFETY COMMITTEES

          2  more federal grants in the areas where we need

          3  improvements.  The other is to look at the potential

          4  for some type of user fees associated with security,

          5  and we believe the combination of those two should

          6  put us in good shape.

          7                 What we need to think about though,

          8  is not so much more money, but where would we invest

          9  that money and what really needs to get done.  Now

         10  we have talked about one area that is very important

         11  to us and that is the Transportation Workers'

         12  Identification card.  The other area that i think is

         13  significant for us, is that whole notion of securing

         14  that supply chain.  I think all of you are well

         15  aware of the fact that this is the vulnerability in

         16  our ports today.  What is in that box?  Where is it

         17  coming from?  And how do we know that when it is

         18  landed here, that it does not have a weapon of mass

         19  destruction or something that we do not want in our

         20  port?  We do not want to find that weapon of mass

         21  destruction when it arrives here.  We want to make

         22  sure that before it gets loaded on a ship someplace

         23  else, it is clean.

         24                 And that is the part of this system

         25  that we think is important.  We are involved in a
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          2  program called Operation Safe Commerce.  It is

          3  actually a federal program.  We have gotten

          4  collectively about $75 million dollars.  We are

          5  sharing the responsibilities between two other load

          6  centers, Los Angeles and Long Beach, and Seattle and

          7  Tacoma.  And we are looking at ways to improve that

          8  supply chain security, through changes in business

          9  practice, and use of technology.  And we believe, by

         10  the end of this year, we are going to be able to

         11  provide to the federal government, strong

         12  recommendations on how we can not only improve

         13  security, but do it in a way where we can afford it.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON NELSON: You have an

         15  awesome responsibility.  I imagine you lose sleep

         16  sometimes, as well.

         17                 I wanted to mention that, also,

         18  Council Members Joe Addabbo was here and Melissa

         19  Mark- Viverito.  I think they will be coming back,

         20  too, I believe.  I know that Councilman Addabbo was

         21  also chairing a meeting next door.

         22                 During an emergency, how does the PA

         23  supplement their police force?  Is it supplemented

         24  by the NYPD, or Jersey police?  And do you know who

         25  has the financial responsibility for that?
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          2                 MISS ROONEY: The Port Authority

          3  police officers, or the Port Authority police force

          4  has approximately 1600 sworn officers, and while we

          5  may only have 50 of those men and women at our

          6  facilities, what we also have is a Special

          7  Operations Division similar to NYPD.  That SOD

          8  division has ESU resources, canine, aviation, and

          9  the like.  We have the capability of calling in and

         10  supplementing our resources with New Jersey State

         11  police and with NYPD.  And we, also, when we need

         12  additional law enforcement resources, when we

         13  elevate our security level, use the New Jersey

         14  Department of Corrections, as well.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON NELSON: Fifty on duty,

         16  but there are 1600?

         17                 MISS ROONEY: There are 1600 sworn

         18  police officers on the Port Authority police force.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON NELSON: And only 50 on

         20  duty, is that any -- how does that work out?

         21                 MISS ROONEY: We have got 24 hour

         22  police coverage at our port facilities and

         23  especially our New Jersey facilities, we get back up

         24  from the police officers that are assigned to Newark

         25  Airport, as well.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON NELSON: And the private

          3  security guards? Any of those involved?  And how

          4  well trained would they be?

          5                 MISS ROONEY: We do have private

          6  security guards and as Mr. Larrabee mentioned

          7  earlier, in our case, at public berths, it is only

          8  when we have a vessel on berth.  At all other times,

          9  those gates are locked down.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON NELSON: Okay, I mean, we

         11  do not have the power to obviously, in the council,

         12  to declare war or ratify treaties.  We are limited,

         13  of course.  But if you can think of anything that we

         14  can try to do to rattle the cage in resolutions or

         15  getting involved with the feds, please, let us know

         16  how we can get involved with this.  Because I think

         17  it appears that New York City is not receiving the

         18  funding it needs to fend off a possible terrorist

         19  attack.  And it is -- I do not feel very good about

         20  it. I do not think any people in the Metro area,

         21  well, I am sure some could care less, but most

         22  people, normal people, in the Metro area care a lot.

         23                 MISS ROONEY: And I think we would

         24  agree.  There has been $707 million dollars

         25  allocated by the federal government for port
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          2  security.  Approximately 53 million of that was

          3  received by entities within the New York and New

          4  Jersey harbor.  Yet by the Coast Guard's own

          5  calculation or studies, our port is number two in

          6  terms of overall risk.  So we firmly believe that

          7  grants need to be allocated based on risk.  And any

          8  support that you could give us in that would be

          9  extraordinarily helpful.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON NELSON: Yea, I read that

         11  report, too with the point system, and I wonder who

         12  devised the point system. That is another story.

         13                 But, do you have -- your training, do

         14  you have specialists in intelligence arenas training

         15  any of your people?

         16  I am sorry, I want to go to -- Oh, Gail is here,

         17  good, okay, thanks.  Right after this.

         18                 MISS ROONEY: The Port Authority

         19  police department has a number of intelligence

         20  forces, counter terrorism and Intel., as well.  We

         21  sit on the Joint Terrorism task force both in  New

         22  York and New Jersey.  We also sit on the Coast

         23  Guard's Field Intelligence Support Team, as well.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON NELSON: Okay, you feel it

         25  is sufficient, the way it has been going?
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          2                 MISS ROONEY: Again, the

          3  Superintendent of Police would be more appropriate

          4  to answer that question.  But I believe so.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON NELSON: Fine. Then we

          6  should not spare much expense.  Especially some of

          7  these men and women are right there, the point of

          8  intervention, or whatever you would call it.

          9                 MR. LARRABEE: I think one of the

         10  things that you are going to find when you look at

         11  the port and the port community, that there has been

         12  a level of cooperation that existed for a long time.

         13    In a previous life, I was the Coast Guard Captain

         14  of the port here in New York in the early, 90's and

         15  I can tell you from my personal experience, that the

         16  level of cooperation between a law enforcement

         17  agency and the response agency, is one of the key

         18  notes of this port, whether it is a hazardous

         19  material's incident, a terrorist incident, an oil

         20  spill, that community of people has historically

         21  worked well together, and I think is doing the same

         22  thing right now.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON NELSON: We exhibited some

         24  of that, too. We were with the Captain of the Port

         25  just recently, in Staten Island, with the Coast
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          2  Guard.  That was one of the shining lights, the

          3  cooperation between the agencies.  And we are going

          4  to go into other aspects of that, too.  Like for

          5  instance, would it not be a good idea for them to

          6  have at least a helicopter there too, if they could

          7  respond to something more quickly, than getting in

          8  touch with the police and so on?  But that is

          9  something else we are looking into, as well as

         10  compatibility of systems within, as you are well

         11  aware of, I am sure.

         12                 Well, thank you.  Is it all right,

         13  Mr. Chair?  Do you -- and then Council Member Sears.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Let me also just

         15  welcome Council Member Mark- Viverito who has also

         16  joined us, and we will go to Council Member Brewer

         17  before me.  I have had a shot already. Thanks.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Thank you very

         19  much, Chairs. I have a question regarding some of

         20  the technology.  I am fairly familiar with GIS.  I

         21  know that you have some wonderful leaders at the

         22  Port Authority, Mr. Cooper being one of them.  But

         23  my question is, you have, I think you mentioned, 25

         24  different jurisdictions in terms of different kinds

         25  of officers.  And of course that does not count the
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          2  many ambulance, volunteers in New Jersey, et cetera.

          3                 So my question is, given that you

          4  have, you know, sort of, you need much more, you

          5  need lots of spacial coverage and you need a

          6  platform that many different entities can talk to

          7  each other.  What are you doing, obviously working

          8  with Homeland, working with The Department of

          9  Defense, those two do not talk to each other, so it

         10  makes it hard for you to be able to coordinate. But

         11  there is a challenge here.  Obviously, it is great

         12  to have content.  You are sitting in the office, you

         13  have the base map, you have the layers, but if you

         14  cannot actually get it to somebody, you know, who

         15  has got a Suburban or who is there in a boat, it

         16  does not do you any good.  And I think

         17  traditionally, we have had a lot of challenges doing

         18  this.  We had a wonderful opportunity at 911, in

         19  terms of the content at 911, while people were

         20  coming in from New Jersey and were being sent to

         21  Liberty, and of course they do not even intersect.

         22                 So we have come along way since then,

         23  but the question is, what do you still need to do in

         24  terms of becoming whole with base maps, that are

         25  actually in the hands of people who need them?  And
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          2  you have got many jurisdictions, so it is not an

          3  easy question.

          4                 MISS ROONEY: The benefits of, I am

          5  sorry, the benefit of GIS is certainly significant,

          6  and we use GIS in two different forms.  One,

          7  certainly for emergency management and then for day

          8  to day management of our facilities and utilities

          9  and infrastructure, and the like.  Through our

         10  Office of Emergency Management, Mr. Jim Cooper, who

         11  you referred to earlier, is in fact, the agency's

         12  lead on our GIS projects.  We have gotten tremendous

         13  cooperation from State and local agencies in the

         14  region, in terms of developing those base maps or

         15  sharing those base maps with us.  We would have to

         16  get back to Mr. Cooper and find out exactly if still

         17  needed, and where we still have some of those gaps

         18  in that map, in order to answer that specific

         19  question.  But we are moving along with GIS.  We

         20  have GIS capabilities in our emergency operation

         21  center, and we are moving toward getting GIS maps

         22  available to our police officers in their sector

         23  cars and in wearable hand held computer, as well.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: What is the

         25  timing on that?
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          2                 MISS ROONEY: I do not know.  We will

          3  have to get back to you.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: And then how

          5  do you coordinate with some of the other entities,

          6  private, as well as public, Coast guard, et cetera,

          7  in order to be able to effectuate this in case there

          8  was something horrible to happen?  Because it is not

          9  just you.

         10                 MR. LARRABEE: You know, I think one

         11  of the best examples that I can give occurred on

         12  911.  When you looked at the response by the

         13  maritime community in helping to evacuate nearly

         14  800,000 people from the City that day, I think you

         15  have to realize that the Captain of the Port brings

         16  a lot of capability when it comes to communications.

         17    The vessel traffic center which has

         18  communications, all the vessels in the port, their

         19  communications capabilities and the exercise of that

         20  system on a daily basis, allows this port to respond

         21  in the way it did that day.  I was one of those

         22  people that got evacuated after I left the World

         23  Trade Center.  I can tell you that it worked pretty

         24  well.

         25                 This area committee that I talked
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          2  about in my testimony is really the centerpiece for

          3  that whole notion of coordination from an agency

          4  level, and in a tactical level, on a daily basis.

          5  And the ability to use that system throughout normal

          6  operations, and allows them to escalate up when an

          7  incident like 911 happens, I think that is another

          8  good example that this is a system that is working

          9  fairly well.  Are there improvements that can be

         10  made?  Absolutely.  And I think Beth's testimony

         11  would indicate that we are working towards that.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Okay, so you

         13  are saying that this discussion of GIS and

         14  communication is obviously part of that task force?

         15                 MR. LARRABEE: Absolutely.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Okay.  And how

         17  do you specifically talk about platform sharing at

         18  that task force?

         19                 MISS ROONEY: There are, in addition

         20  to the area of maritime security committee, there

         21  are also response organizations that get together

         22  through different forums,  In fact, all of the local

         23  Offices of Emergency Management, Port Authority New

         24  York City New York State, New Jersey State, get

         25  together in terms of coordinating the response
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          2  efforts, and through those forums, they are working

          3  on cross sharing and cross developing GIS

          4  activities.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Okay.

          6                 MR. LARRABEE: And the other example

          7  of course, is the fact that we are now involved in a

          8  significant exercise program with all of those

          9  agencies, so we routinely exercise those plans and

         10  those communication systems with the idea that we

         11  learn lessons from an exercise, as opposed to real

         12  world events.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: I mean, I have

         14  just heard a lot about this.  It is not my first

         15  discussion on this topic.  And I am just saying

         16  there is a lot of work to be done.  It is not just

         17  the port, but, you know, you need the Defense

         18  Department, you need their maps, people do not want

         19  to share, that is life, that is how it has been in

         20  the past.  It cannot continue like that.  So, and

         21  obviously, you know, infrastructures are more than

         22  what the port has just in your jurisdiction.  So, I

         23  am just saying, having been to many, many, many GIS

         24  meetings, that there is a lot of work to be done,

         25  and everybody should be pushing to try to get as
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          2  much communication as possible.  We have a lot of

          3  work to be done.

          4                 MR. LARRABEE: We certainly agree.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Okay.  Thank

          6  you.

          7                 MISS ROONEY: Thank you.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Thank you,

          9  council member.  You mentioned -- why I agree with

         10  Council Member Nelson that we are short changed in

         11  our federal Homeland Security money, you mentioned

         12  that it is now going to be risk- based and that was

         13   -- the City council unanimously passed resolution I

         14  had put in a long time ago, calling for this money

         15  to be dispensed on a risk- based analysis. However,

         16  Ray Kelly testified and he is concerned, as am I,

         17  about the fact that the entire pot of money has now

         18  gone down.  Plus this risk- based analysis also now

         19  includes areas that might be susceptible to natural

         20  disasters.  We do not begrudge them their money, but

         21  that should come from a different pool.  So Ray

         22  Kelly and I are concerned about the fact that even

         23  with this analysis, it may not wind up resulting in

         24  more money for areas that are truly at risk for

         25  terrorist attack, like your ports.  So, we need to
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          2  all constantly be vigilant and make sure that we get

          3  that money because we are being short changed.

          4                 Council Member Gentile.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE: Thank you,

          6  Mr. Chairman.  I am curious.  You mentioned in your

          7  remarks that the water side security at times on the

          8  New Jersey side is covered by the New Jersey

          9  Department of Corrections.  Am I correct about that?

         10                 MISS ROONEY: That was not the water

         11  side portion of the security, but the land side

         12  portion of the security.  If we need to tap in to

         13  additional resources as our maritime security level

         14  gets elevated because of the threat profile, we have

         15  the ability through MOU's to call in resources from

         16  the New Jersey Department of Corrections to assist

         17  us on the land side, not on the water side.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE: And how is

         19  that implemented? Is that some kind of an agreement?

         20    Is it by statute?  How is that?

         21                 MISS ROONEY: There is an MOU in place

         22  between the Port Authority and New Jersey State in

         23  order to do that and then those Corrections'

         24  officers come under the jurisdiction and command of

         25  the local commanding officer, the equivalent of a
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          2  precinct commander.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE: And then how

          4  is it done on the New York side?

          5                 MISS ROONEY: I do not believe that we

          6  have called in the Department of Corrections on the

          7  New York side.  We have used National Guard

          8  resources on the New York side.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE: Do you have

         10  an MOU on the New York side?

         11                 MISS ROONEY: That would be under the

         12  Governor's call to bring in the National Guard

         13  resources.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE: But on the

         15  New Jersey side you have an automatic -- you can

         16  call in the New Jersey Department of Corrections?

         17                 MISS ROONEY: That is correct.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE: But you

         19  cannot do anything of that nature without the

         20  Governor's okay here on the New York side?

         21                 MISS ROONEY: As far as I know, yes.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE: Now how is it

         23  that it was the New Jersey Department of

         24  Corrections?  Do they have any special training for

         25  the land side security?
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          2                 MISS ROONEY: I think in the aftermath

          3  of 911 and we saw that our security level was going

          4  up significantly, there is a Correctional facility

          5  just outside of our port on the New Jersey side, and

          6  there were agreements in place and resource sharing.

          7    One of the, as Rick mentioned, one of the things

          8  that we have always had in place, is a tremendous

          9  level of coordination and cooperation among Federal,

         10  State and local law enforcement agencies.  So we

         11  knew before 911, what resources were available to

         12  us.  We had those relationships in place so that we

         13  could call upon them as necessary.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE: But that does

         15  not seem to be the case in New York.

         16                 MISS ROONEY: Not that I am aware of.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE: Right and

         18  right, exactly. But I am curious.  You have these

         19  agreements with New Jersey and you can call in the

         20  New Jersey Department of Corrections.  Have there

         21  been discussions with the Governor or anybody on the

         22  State level about the New York land side security?

         23                 MISS ROONEY: Those discussions would

         24  be had by our Superintendent of Police.  I am not

         25  privy to those discussions, so I do not know.
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          2                 MR. LARRABEE: We can get back to you

          3  with an answer on that.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE: And I am just

          5  curious about level of, or are the New York

          6  Department of Corrections less trained or less

          7  capable than the New Jersey Department of

          8  Corrections to handle the duties that you give them

          9  to do?

         10                 MR. LARRABEE: I do not think either

         11  one of us are prepared to answer that question.  I

         12  would be happy to get back, for the record, with an

         13  answer to any questions related to that. But I do

         14  not think either one of us have knowledge of

         15  discussions that may have taken place or any

         16  arrangements on the New York side.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE: So, as land

         18  side security goes, what can you tell us about the

         19  New York side?  Why is it different than the New

         20  Jersey side?  That is, I guess, the question that I

         21  have.

         22                 MR. LARRABEE: Well, I do not know

         23  that it is necessarily different.  Again, thinking

         24  about how we create requirements for security. As we

         25  explained in our testimony, the requirements are
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          2  based on federal law, enforced by the United States

          3  Coast Guard.  Those requirements, in essence, place

          4  the responsibility on the facility owner or

          5  operator.  So in the case of Port Authority

          6  facilities, that owner or operator is required to be

          7  in compliance, in terms of access control and

          8  security, physical security for that facility.  I do

          9  not necessarily think that the requirements are

         10  different or that they are enforced differently on

         11  one side of the harbor or the other.

         12                 In terms of Port Authority assets,

         13  which is where we are kind of going with this

         14  question, we provide adequate Port Authority assets

         15  to provide support for our public spaces and in our

         16  ability to respond to incidents on one of

         17  facilities.  In that kind of a scenario, I would

         18  expect that we would be able to call in other law

         19  enforcement agencies on a cooperative basis, whether

         20  it be for law enforcement or emergency response.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE: But the

         22  difference is, you have that authority right now

         23  with the New Jersey side, but on the New York side,

         24  you need an order of the Governor.

         25                 MR. LARRABEE: I cannot talk to that
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          2  specifically. You are beyond my knowledge of the

          3  current arrangements in New York when it comes to

          4  the Department of Corrections.  As I said before, I

          5  would be happy to get back to you with an answer.  I

          6  will have to confer with our Director of Public

          7  Safety at the agency.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE: I would

          9  appreciate that because it seems to me that if you

         10  are using, if there is some training and they are

         11  trained and they capable of doing --

         12                 MR. LARRABEE: I would be happy to

         13  answer the question.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE: Okay.

         15                 The other question I had was that

         16  with these federal security zones, right now it is

         17  only the Coast Guard that has the legal authority to

         18  enforce the federal security zones?

         19                 MR. LARRABEE: I am not going to speak

         20  for the Coast Guard, but typically for security

         21  zones, it is the Coast Guard that has that

         22  authority.  In the cases in states where they have

         23  granted the authority to local law enforcement, it

         24  has been by agreement. And in the case of New

         25  Jersey, that has been created.  And in the case of
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          2  the State of New York, I am not exactly sure where

          3  that is in the process.  I know that recommendation

          4  has been made.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE: But as far as

          6  the Port Authority is concerned, you do not have the

          7  authority to enforce federal security zones on

          8  either side?

          9                 MR. LARRABEE: Correct.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE: And your

         11  telling us that you would rather have that

         12  authority.  It would be better for you to have that

         13  authority.

         14                 MR. LARRABEE: Well, I think in terms

         15  of the overall ability to create flexibility and to

         16  be able to surge resources to do a specific job like

         17  enforce a security zone, I think that is a tool that

         18  we would all like to see put in place.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE: And what

         20  efforts have been made toward that end?

         21                 MR. LARRABEE: Again, I think in the

         22  State of New Jersey, that has already been created.

         23  I am not sure where we are in the process today,

         24  between the Coast Guard and the State of New York,

         25  in terms of giving New York law enforcement agencies
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          2  the ability to enforce security zones.  We would

          3  have to get back to you or you would have to ask

          4  that question of the Coast Guard.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE: Okay, so I am

          6  just a little confused now.  Port Authority does, or

          7  does not have the authority in New Jersey to enforce

          8  federal security zones?

          9                 MR. LARRABEE: No, we do not.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE: You do not.

         11  Okay.

         12                 MR. LARRABEE: And one of the

         13  practical reasons for that is we currently do not

         14  operate any vessels that would be involved in that

         15  kind of an operation.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE: But you would

         17  rather have that authority, is that what you are

         18  telling me?

         19                 MR. LARRABEE: Yea, I think as a

         20  general tool to have, absolutely, yes.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE: So what would

         22  it take? Would it take legislation?

         23                 MR. LARRABEE: It takes an act of

         24  legislation. Correct.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE: Legislation
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          2  from the State?

          3                 MR. LARRABEE: Yes.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE: Both the

          5  State of New Jersey and the State of New York?

          6                 MR. LARRABEE: Yes.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE: And what, if

          8  any efforts have been made to have that legislation

          9  enacted?

         10                 MR. LARRABEE: I do not have personal

         11  knowledge of that.  I would be happy to answer that

         12  question.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE: Okay.  And as

         14  far as, so you do not know if there has ever been

         15  any attempt to get legislation in either state?

         16                 MR. LARRABEE: I am not personally

         17  aware of it, no.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE: Okay.

         19                 Mr. Chairman, I think that is an

         20  issue that we, from the City Council might want to

         21  pursue with our State legislators, at least on this

         22  side of the water, if not, on both.  Thank you.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON NELSON: I think you are

         24  absolutely right.  Thank you for uncovering that.

         25                 I have a question regarding security
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          2  cameras.  We have put them everywhere in New York

          3  City.  We have them in our public schools.  We are

          4  putting them downtown, looking to get them on

          5  housing developments.  Do they exist at your ports,

          6  and who is responsible for maintaining them?

          7                 MISS ROONEY: There are two different

          8  systems of security cameras at the ports.  Those

          9  that are operated by the Port Authority and are at

         10  our public berths and looking at our other critical

         11  infrastructure, substations, power stations, pump

         12  stations and the like.  And then there are cameras

         13  that are operated generally by the terminal

         14  operators, the private terminal operator, that are

         15  used for both security and productivity and

         16  efficiency purposes.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE: So you have

         18  independent cameras of the port operator?

         19                 MISS ROONEY: Correct.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE: And we have

         21  uncovered yet another area where the port operator

         22  is responsible for security, as opposed to what we

         23  have heard.  And they are the ones that operate --

         24  they operate their own security cameras on the

         25  premise.
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          2                 MISS ROONEY: The terminal operators

          3  are responsible for security within their fence

          4  line, within their lease hold. Under Coast Guard

          5  regulations, they are responsible for all of the

          6  security respective to their property.  The Coast

          7  Guard and Customs however, still have the majority

          8  of security responsibility in terms of the

          9  regulations, and enforcing the regulations.  The

         10  terminal operators are not operating in a vacuum,

         11  with regard to security.  They must comply with the

         12  Federal Security Plan that has been approved,

         13  submitted to, and approved by the Coast Guard, and

         14  is audited by the Coast Guard regularly.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE: How does the

         16  Port Authority interact with the NYPD on a daily

         17  basis when it comes to security?

         18                 MISS ROONEY: Again, the Port

         19  Authority police department sits on the Joint

         20  Terrorism task force in New York and with the NYPD.

         21  And the Port Authority police department coordinate

         22  with the NYPD most particularly, at our Brooklyn

         23  marine terminal and our New York container terminal.

         24    In fact, just before we came to this hearing

         25  today, there was a coordination meeting at the soon
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          2  to be open new Brooklyn Cruise Terminal, in which

          3  PAPD and NYPD commanders were operating together to

          4  prepare for that meeting arrival on April 15th.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE: I am

          6  introducing a resolution which would call for the

          7  NYPD, either its commissioner or another, to have a

          8  position on the Port Authority board.  Would you

          9  support that?

         10                 MR. LARRABEE: I think that is a

         11  question you would have to put to the Governor of

         12  New York.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE: We will be

         14  doing that.

         15                 MR. LARRABEE: Thank you.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE: You mentioned

         17  improvements and we agreed some of our biggest area

         18  of vulnerabilities, start overseas with what goes

         19  into these containers, the fact that we have got

         20  only 42 Custom's officers working around the world,

         21  checking to make sure that what is on the bill of

         22  lading, actually goes into the container.  There are

         23  too many problems with those containers to go

         24  through right now.  But Virginia Port Authority

         25  Executive, Robert Bray, made some headlines recently
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          2  when he contended that the technology now exists to

          3  scan 100 percent of these containers with Gamma Ray

          4  machines and radiation detectors. Do you agree with

          5  this contention first of all, and if so, then why is

          6  it not being used here, and when will it be?

          7                 MR. LARRABEE: Well, I am going to let

          8  Beth talk to the specifics in terms of technology.

          9  But in general, that capability does exist.  We use

         10  x- ray technology here in this port to screen high

         11  risk cargo.  There are both fixed and portable units

         12  at all of our facilities, both in New York and in

         13  New Jersey.  So we are doing that today.  The

         14  ability to do that in foreign ports is one of the

         15  things that we are looking at.  But when you think

         16  about the security of this system, it is our belief

         17  and our recent studies have borne that out, that the

         18  most vulnerable part of this logistic system, is not

         19  from a port in a foreign country to this port, it is

         20  that place where that cargo gets stuffed, and it is

         21  that transit from that point of manufacturer to the

         22  first port, where the highest vulnerability exists.

         23  And I want to let Beth talk to some of the things

         24  that we are looking at that will improve that part

         25  of the logistic system.

                                                            86

          1  WATERFRONTS AND PUBLIC SAFETY COMMITTEES

          2                 MISS ROONEY: That 100 percent

          3  inspection certainly here in the united States,

          4  should be our last line of defense, not our first

          5  line of defense, so we need to continue to push the

          6  boarders back and secure that part of the supply

          7  chain, as Rick said, which is the most vulnerable,

          8  the point of stuffing and the inland dray to the

          9  foreign port of loading.  And there are a number of

         10  initiatives and programs that the federal

         11  government, as well as the private sector, have

         12  initiated since 911 in order to develop security

         13  systems for that.  The one that we are most heavily

         14  involved in, is with Operation Safe Commerce.  And

         15  through Operation Safe Commerce, we are looking at

         16  technology that can be put onto the container

         17  itself.  So that once the container is stuffed at a

         18  foreign point of manufacturer or consolidation, we

         19  know that container has not been tampered with.  We

         20  know that nobody has taken the doors off, cut a hole

         21  in it, cut a hole through the floor, because there

         22  is a device on that container and that technology

         23  exists today.  There is a device on that container

         24  that would detect a number of breaches or anomalies

         25  with that. That, coupled with the radiation
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          2  detection, the Gamma Ray exams, as well as other

          3  programs such as placing U.S. Inspectors in foreign

          4  ports, the Customs Trade Partnership Against

          5  Terrorism, targeting systems that customs and the

          6  Coast Guard use, are all part of the overall

          7  security solution.  No one of those programs or

          8  initiates, is the answer.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE: They sound

         10  like, like you said, go a long way, though.  So when

         11  would -- you said that technology exists?

         12                 MISS ROONEY: The technology exists in

         13  a number of different forums.  We are working on the

         14  cost benefit of that.  We do not believe that

         15  security, that companies will invest in security, if

         16  they do not have some other commercial benefit to

         17  that.  So we are working with the private sector to

         18  develop exactly what that cost is, and what that ROI

         19  would be, so that they get some commercial benefit.

         20  They have got visibility for inventory purposes.

         21  They have reductions in insurance costs and things

         22  like that.  So that they are paying for security,

         23  but they are getting other commercial benefits, as

         24  well.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE: That is
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          2  obviously important, but their commercial benefits

          3  are nowhere near as important as a dirty bomb

          4  exploding, the risk of a dirty bomb exploding here

          5  in one of our ports.  So, if it cost money, we have

          6  to find it.  And that should not be a cause of the

          7  delay, trying to figure out how to get private

          8  companies to pay for this.

          9                 With regard to my question, 100

         10  percent of the containers can be scanned using

         11  technology that exists today.  That is not happening

         12  right now.  One hundred percent of the containers

         13  are not being scanned.

         14                 MR. LARRABEE: First of all, there is

         15  no requirement to do that, so people are not going

         16  to do those kind of things unless they are pushed

         17  into doing it.  Secondly, just to give you a sense

         18  of what that would mean, on an average day in this

         19  port, we get 7,000 new containers coming and going.

         20  You could well imagine that our role, in a port's

         21  role in this process, is to move those containers as

         22  quickly as we possibly can.  There are a number of

         23  reasons for doing that, but anything that disrupts

         24  that process is going to cause additional costs and

         25  additional delays.  So as Beth has indicated, what
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          2  we are trying to do is imbed security in all of

          3  these processes that involve the movement of

          4  containers and goods, for that matter, not just

          5  containers, but automobiles and other commodities.

          6  So I think the key here is to find ways to keep this

          7  system moving.  But at the same time, imbed security

          8  in it.

          9                 Now the idea that we could take an x-

         10  ray of every container, is technically possible and

         11  today I would submit that in Hong Kong, they are

         12  attempting to do that.  But --

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE: Part of what

         14  the Virginia Director said is that this can be done

         15  without massive delays.  You know, I believe that

         16  every technological advantage we can use to combat

         17  terrorism should be used and you know, five years

         18  after 911, to still be discussing things as basic as

         19  background checks and still be hoping to use

         20  technology that exists, are not the most effective

         21  ways to be protecting the City from a terrorist

         22  attack.

         23                 You spoke earlier about the

         24  consequences of an attack.  Let us go there.

         25  Significant death and destruction, I am reading from
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          2  your testimony, national and global economies would

          3  be devastated.  How would the Port Authority

          4  interact with other agencies and what is the

          5  response if a dirty bomb is set off in a port, or if

          6  a tanker is attacked and there is a leak in a port,

          7  what happens next?

          8                 MR. LARRABEE: In that situation,

          9  under the current federal requirements, it is the

         10  Coast Guard Captain of the Port who becomes the

         11  primary on scene commander, if you will.  The

         12  organizations that support him are created through

         13  the integrated system that has become fairly

         14  universal.  ICS is a process that I am sure you have

         15  become familiar with.  It has become the standard,

         16  if you will, and to my knowledge, all of the

         17  agencies that are involved in the Captain of the

         18  Ports response, are very familiar with that process.

         19    We exercise that system.  I go back to my earlier

         20  comments and that is that is a system that we have

         21  put in place, whether it is an oil spill or a

         22  hazardous chemical incident or God forbid, a

         23  terrorist incident.  The coordination that we talked

         24  about earlier in terms of something like the Queen

         25  Mary coming in.  That kind of daily exercising of
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          2  those relationships, I think, gives me comfort that

          3  when an incident occurs, and I say when, because I

          4  think that is the way we have to think.  When an

          5  incident occurs, I am comfortable that those

          6  organizations will come together in a responsible

          7  way and provide adequate response. My concern is

          8  that we put in place mechanisms for making decision

          9  about getting the system restarted again.  The

         10  reaction after 911 was to close 361 U.S. Ports for a

         11  couple of days.  As I mentioned in my testimony,

         12  when you do that, you begin to interrupt that just

         13  in time delivery system, and we begin to run out of

         14  things.  That port needs to get restarted as quickly

         15  as possible with assurances that we are not going to

         16  see another terrorist incident.  But we have to find

         17  ways to exercise that decision making process.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE: I am

         19  comfortable that you would interact well, too.  But

         20  has there been any training to ensure that this will

         21  happen?  Have you done joint training?

         22                 MR. LARRABEE: There is training.

         23  There is exercises.  We have had several real world

         24  events dealing with radiological incidents or

         25  potential radiological incidents.  We had one
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          2  incident with what was determined, not to be, but

          3  was a threat as a bio- terrorist event.  And each

          4  one of those cases, not only were the cases

          5  prosecuted properly, but we learned a great deal.

          6  And each opportunity you have to do that, with

          7  lessons learned gives us, I think, the confidence

          8  that we are going to do better the next time.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE: Has there

         10  been joint training undertaken separate from actual

         11  incident between the different agencies?

         12                 MR. LARRABEE: Exercises like the ones

         13  you heard in earlier testimony from the NYPD I

         14  think, are going on in a regular basis.  I know we

         15  are certainly involved in that.  The Coast Guard

         16  requirements are in place for us to exercise on a

         17  regular basis and an annual basis.  So I think that

         18  is one of the areas where I would like to see us

         19  strengthen our efforts.  If there are three things

         20  that we would like to leave you with, it is improved

         21  cargo security, get that TWIC card done as soon as

         22  we possibly can and strengthen our ability to

         23  respond to and mitigate an event that we hope would

         24  never happen, but we need to be prepared for.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE: The first
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          2  two, simple enough.  How would we be able to help

          3  you do the last ones, to strengthen your ability?

          4                 MR. LARRABEE: Again, I think through

          5  your good offices, I think you continue to ask the

          6  kind of questions you are asking.  I think you

          7  continue to influence the agencies that you have

          8  influence over.  To continue to engage in some of

          9  the things that we talked about today, whether it is

         10  GIS and the improvement of our information systems

         11  or the improvement of sharing of intelligence.  All

         12  of those things are what we need to continue to

         13  focus on.  It is not just, are we ready to do an

         14  exercise, but at any given moment, are we ready to

         15  respond.  And I think in this City, an understanding

         16  that despite all of the prevention that we might do,

         17  we always have to be ready to respond to an

         18  incident, and an incident could happen at any

         19  moment.  Those of us that I think lived through 911

         20  understand that.  People sitting here at this table

         21  take this as our number one responsibility in what

         22  we do every day.  The people that work for me

         23  understand that, and I think that we take this as

         24  seriously as we possibly can, balancing that against

         25  our other responsibilities, to keep commerce moving,
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          2  to facilitate commerce to make this area competitive

          3  when it comes to moving goods.  All of that is part

          4  of the equation.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE: Sounds good.

          6  Let us get some background checks done on those

          7  drivers before the federal government gets their act

          8  together, too.

          9                 Chairman Nelson would like to finish

         10  up.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON NELSON: Right. TWIC.

         12  ASAP.  First of all I want to thank you for your

         13  service to this nation.  You obviously were a

         14  Captain in the Coast Guard.  Or maybe you were a

         15  General, for all I know.  Captain is like a Colonel

         16  when I was in the Air Force.

         17                 MR. LARRABEE: I retired as an

         18  Admiral.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON NELSON: Oh, here you go.

         20  General, I was right.  Okay.  Thank you for that.  I

         21  wish I knew some of the stuff that you are not at

         22  liberty to say, but that would be part in parse of

         23  how we could try to help you.  And I imagine Center

         24  Intelligence is involved with this, I would like to

         25  think so, at least.
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          2                 You are an invaluable source of

          3  Homeland Security needs and I wish I knew everyone

          4  of your thoughts, how we can find ways to fund, what

          5  you felt needed to be implemented.  Because I did

          6  not feel too secure today.  I would like to learn

          7  more about every area we can get involved with to

          8  get the funding into --  we know about TWIC.  We

          9  know that some of these problems that we had were

         10  some of these guys driving in with criminal records.

         11  We know a lot of -- we can rectify.  We can jump

         12  into.  We need the feds obviously, to give us the

         13  money.

         14                 We were hit worse than anybody else.

         15  We know a plane went into the Pentagon, as well and

         16  we know one in the fields, thanks to some brave

         17  passengers of Pennsylvania.  We know that there

         18  could be worse happening and I do feel very

         19  insecure. And I am sure that people in this area do

         20  feel insecure.  Because the more I learn, the more

         21  nervous I get.  It is like when I took flying

         22  lessons.  The more I knew about flying, the worse I

         23  became up there.  So anyway, I do want to thank you

         24  for appearing and hopefully we can -- we are

         25  recommending a number of items, as well. And
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          2  hopefully, working together -- and I was very

          3  impressed, again, when I was at the cooperation, I

          4  want to stress that, I have a new found respect.  I

          5  always had respect for the Coast Guard, but even

          6  more so now.  They are actually like New York City's

          7  Navy and very well needed, as well.  So I thank the

          8  Coast Guard very much, although they could not

          9  appear today, unfortunately.  Thank you.

         10                 Council Member Vallone.

         11                 Any other members have any questions?

         12                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: I also would

         13  like to thank both of you for coming down and

         14  testifying today.  I am also getting a little

         15  nervous about Mike Nelson flying a plane.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON NELSON: I quit.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE: He quit,

         18  okay.  I will be hearing about that.

         19                 But thank you both again.  You did

         20  not have to do this, and you answered some tough

         21  questions and we will be following up with you on

         22  some of the answers you did not have today or were

         23  unable to give today, and working with you to ensure

         24  that we are safer than we are now.  So, thank you,

         25  thank you both.
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          2                 MR. LARRABEE: Thanks, Mr. Chairman.

          3  We appreciate the opportunity.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Thank you.

          5                 The next panel will be from the

          6  Waterfronts Commission.  Anyone who will be

          7  testifying after that, please fill out a card at the

          8  desk over there with the officer.  Thank you.

          9                 Welcome, gentlemen.  Sorry, we had

         10  some -- a lot of issues to go through with some of

         11  the other -- so thank you for waiting and the floor

         12  is yours.

         13                 MR. AXELROD: Thank you, Chairman

         14  Vallone.  Thank you, Chairman Nelson and other

         15  members of the council.

         16                 My name is Michael Axelrod.  I am the

         17  New York member of the Waterfront Commission of New

         18  York Harbor.  Excuse me, I am accompanied today by

         19  our Executive Director, Thomas DiMaria, and behind

         20  us is Christopher Ostuni who is the Executive

         21  Director's Assistant and Jeff Shone, who is our

         22  Deputy Director of Licensing.

         23                 We have tried to offer you a brief

         24  summary of the work which the Waterfront Commission

         25  does, and has done over the years since our creation
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          2  in 1953, as a result of a bi- state compact with the

          3  State of New Jersey and of course, approved by a

          4  congress to law by President Eisenhower.  What I

          5  would like to do this afternoon is defer the issues

          6  of security and the remarks to our Executive

          7  Director, Mr. DiMaria, and then of course, we are

          8  here to answer any questions we can and whatever

          9  questions you have of us that we cannot provide the

         10  answers today, we will respond promptly.

         11                 MR. DIMARIA: Thank you, Commissioner.

         12                 Chairman Nelson, Chairman Vallone,

         13  good afternoon, members of the council.  It is a

         14  pleasure to be here and we appreciate the invitation

         15  to attend and give testimony on this very crucial

         16  topic of port security.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON NELSON:  I am sorry, even

         18  though your name was mentioned, to mention your

         19  name.

         20                 MR. DIMARIA: Oh sure.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON NELSON: Thank you.

         22                 MR. DIMARIA: My name is Thomas

         23  DiMaria, the Executive Director of the Waterfront

         24  Commission of New York Harbor.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON NELSON: Thank you.
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          2                 MR. DIMARIA: What I would like to do

          3  is keep the testimony very brief, in light of the

          4  hour.  And not only rely on our submission, our

          5  written submission, we will go through very briefly

          6  the jurisdiction of the Waterfront Commission in a

          7  nutshell, in a brief overview, what we do and be

          8  happy to answer any questions that the members might

          9  have.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON NELSON: We have your

         11  complete testimony for the record.

         12                 MR. DIMARIA: Yes.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON NELSON: You do not need

         14  to go through the entire book, but --

         15                 MR. DIMARIA: No, that is why I said

         16  we are not going to do that.  It will be too long.

         17  We are just going to --

         18                 CHAIRPERSON NELSON: Are you sure?  I

         19  mean, you know, because we are available to.

         20                 MR. DIMARIA: I am just going to

         21  nutshell it and you can ask any questions.  I have

         22  been here throughout the testimony. I see you have

         23  some very probing and specific questions and we will

         24  be happy to answer anything you have for us.

         25                 The mission of the Waterfront
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          2  Commission is to investigate, deter, combat and

          3  remedy criminal activity and influence in the Port

          4  of New York and New Jersey and to ensure fair hiring

          5  and employment practices, so that the port and the

          6  region can grow and prosper.

          7                 The Commission's two main functions

          8  are regulatory, which is our licensing jurisdiction

          9  and law enforcement.  With respect to our licensing

         10  jurisdiction, we presently register and or license,

         11  approximately 6800 dock workers, which include

         12  longshoremen, which include deep sea registrants and

         13  also registrants who perform other incidental

         14  services in warehouses and in other waterfront

         15  maintenance capacities.

         16                 In addition to that, we register and

         17  license the checkers, the telecommunications system

         18  controllers, the pier superintendents, the hiring

         19  agents, the security officers that you have spoken

         20  about, and also the Stevedoring companies

         21  themselves. All individual applicants, as well as

         22  officers, directors and shareholders of more than

         23  five percent ownership of corporate Stevedore stock,

         24  complete a thorough application.  Each of them is

         25  finger printed in the State of residence, in
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          2  addition to the FBI. And also we do social security

          3  checks with the Department of Homeland Security and

          4  in addition, with DHS, any foreign born applicants

          5  we check out their alien registration cards, as well

          6  with DHS.

          7                 An applicant for registration or

          8  licensing may be denied.  If the application has a

          9  serious criminal record or has found to be by the

         10  commission, a "danger to the public's peace or

         11  safety", which applies to the longshore category, or

         12   "lacking in good character and integrity", which

         13  applies to the remaining categories.

         14                 Similarly, a registration or license

         15  which has been already issued may be suspended or

         16  revoked, upon the failure of the individual to

         17  maintain these standards.  So in other words, once

         18  we license or register them, we have continuing

         19  jurisdiction over their license and can revoke it or

         20  suspend it at some point in the future, if they run

         21  a foul of the law.

         22                 Post 911, the Commission immediately

         23  implemented a new state of the art digital photo

         24  identification system and issued new tamper proof

         25  photo I.D. Cards to most of the 6,000, over 6,000

                                                            102

          1  WATERFRONTS AND PUBLIC SAFETY COMMITTEES

          2  dock workers under its jurisdiction, in order to

          3  update all the photos and update their personal

          4  information, as well.

          5                 We also introduced a live scan finger

          6  print system under the old ink and roll methods.  It

          7  was taking about eight to ten weeks to get the

          8  results back from the various states and also the

          9  FBI.  With a live scan finger print system, we can

         10  roll the person on our live scan machine and have

         11  the results literally later that day, or the next

         12  day.

         13                 In addition, we completely revised

         14  with the help of an outside consultant, our

         15  regulations concerning what used to be called pier

         16  guards, and now under the federal legislation, it is

         17  called security officers.  We revamped the training

         18  program and the registration program for all of the

         19  security officers, to ensure that all the security

         20  personnel would be prepared to deal with the post

         21  911 environment.

         22                 With respect to law enforcement, we

         23  have the Waterfront Commission police, who among

         24  other things, investigate criminal activity in the

         25  port and violations of our compact.  They analyze
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          2  organized crime data.  They perform background

          3  checks of individuals and companies that have

          4  applied for registration and/or licensing, they

          5  review pier and waterfront terminal cargo protection

          6  security and theft prevention procedures.  They also

          7  conduct gang checks on the piers throughout the

          8  port, and also maintain the Commission's licensing

          9  and investigative files.

         10                 There has been a lot of discussion

         11  about inter- agency cooperation.  I cannot highlight

         12  how proud we are to cooperate with all of these

         13  agencies in this port of New York.  I have the

         14  fortune to go to various port security conferences

         15  and speak at some of them around the country and

         16  hear how in other ports, the cooperation is not

         17  anywhere close to the level between and among the

         18  agencies, as it is here in New York.  So, New York,

         19  New Jersey metropolitan area can rest assured that

         20  there is utmost cooperation between the law

         21  enforcement agency as on federal, state and local

         22  levels.  And that includes the Department of

         23  Homeland Security, not only federal, but both

         24  States, the Department of labor, federal and both

         25  States, the FBI, the Attorney General's office is in
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          2  both States.  Of course our friends at the Port

          3  Authority of New York and New Jersey, state and

          4  local law enforcement including the great NYPD.  And

          5  also we are not a procedural body, so we cooperate

          6  with district attorneys and county prosecutors in

          7  New Jersey as well as the, like I said, the AG's

          8  offices and also the U.S. Attorney's offices in both

          9  States.

         10                 Our Commission and police essentially

         11  employ three distinct effective strategies to combat

         12  various threats.  One is community policing, one is

         13  task forces, and one is uniform patrols.           While

         14  the four main categories that we protect against and

         15  try to thwart our counter terrorism, narcotics

         16  trafficking, organized crime and cargo theft, I am

         17  going to leave the other three categories to our

         18  written memorandum and just focus on counter

         19  terrorism for this afternoon.

         20                 Through existing liaisons with other

         21  state and local and federal agencies, the

         22  Commission's police division has instituted 24 hour

         23  uniformed and plain clothed patrols on waterfront

         24  terminals.  The Commission uses cutting edge

         25  encrypted wireless laptop technology to verify
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          2  I.D.'s of waterfront dock workers and their

          3  authority to be at a given terminal at any given

          4  time.  In addition, the police division is assigned

          5  members of the division to various county rapid

          6  development forces and have conducted training

          7  exercises.  We have assigned members of the division

          8  to the New York City office of Emergency Management

          9  to coordinate responses to various incidents.  We

         10  have liaisoned (sic.) With the Bayonne New Jersey

         11  police department developing plans for joint

         12  operations at the new Cruise ship terminal in

         13  Bayonne.  In addition, the police division has

         14  assigned members to the FBI Joint Terrorism task

         15  forces in both states, to identify potential threats

         16  of waterfront workers with ties to terrorist

         17  organizations.

         18                 The commission is also proudly a

         19  member of the U.S. Coast Guard Area Maritime

         20  Security Committee and has coordinated responses

         21  with the Coast Guard to specific threat levels.  Our

         22  police division works very closely with the Coast

         23  Guard and the Captain of the Port at the monthly

         24  security committee meetings.

         25                 Our field offices in Brooklyn and
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          2  Newark and our headquarters in Manhattan are

          3  apprised daily of the name, arrival, date and time,

          4  as well as the identity of the personnel assigned to

          5  work the vessels coming and going from the entire

          6  port region. Police division members have instant

          7  access via laptop computers to the Commission's

          8  licensing, registration and intelligence data base

          9  so that the information can be shared with other

         10  authorized law enforcement agencies in the port.

         11                 We recently purchased and deployed a

         12  state of the art communication and dispatch system

         13  that allows detectives to communicate seamlessly

         14  with other law enforcement emergency response

         15  agencies via portable or car radio, and to

         16  coordinate emergency responses for any incident at a

         17  terminal.

         18                 The Commission has mandated new

         19  licensing and training requirements for port

         20  security personnel, in addition to a background

         21  check.  And that was with, as I said before, with

         22  the help of an outside consultant.  All security

         23  officers now in the port, that are employed by the

         24  terminals, go through a training process, a two day

         25  training process.  They have to pass an educational
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          2  exam.  They have to pass a psychological exam, as

          3  well as the background and finger print check.   And

          4  if they pass our scrutiny, they have to wear a

          5  uniform on each terminal so that they can be

          6  immediately identifiable as security personnel.

          7                 The Commission recently purchased the

          8  mobile command center that can be used to coordinate

          9  a sustained response to any terrorist attack, as

         10  well as provide critical information from the

         11  Commission's data base to all emergency responders.

         12  In addition, the police division continues to work

         13  with terminal management and the U.S. Coast Guard in

         14  security assessment to individual terminals.

         15                 In essence, that is the crux of what

         16  we do.  We have been doing it for 53 years.  There

         17  is no other agency in the country that does what we

         18  do.  In relation to the recent concern about Dubai

         19  ports, here, and the port of New York and I cannot

         20  speak for the other ports, there was a concern and

         21  we got many phone calls and a lot of attention.

         22  What if Dubai ports wanted to bring in a few hundred

         23  workers and maybe some of them are terrorists?  In

         24  New York, pursuant to Section 5P of our Act,

         25  essentially we are the gate keepers.  We regulate
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          2  the longshore register.  The longshore register is a

          3  closed register at present, and if a company wants

          4  to add workers to the work force in the Port of New

          5  York or New Jersey, they have to become before the

          6  commission to get permission.  And in order to get

          7  permission, they must establish specific criteria

          8  set forth in our statute and show a need for these

          9  workers.  If they do not show the need, they do not

         10  get any worker.  If they show the need, let us say

         11  they prove a need with new business and they need

         12  100 new workers and we have decided to allow them

         13  pursuant to the statute, 100 new workers, every one

         14  of those new workers, would be screened, finger

         15  printed and background checked by the Commission

         16  before they ever set foot on the port.

         17                 So that is, like I said before, the

         18  crux of what we do.  And we would be happy to answer

         19  any questions that the panel might have.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON NELSON: Thank you Mr.

         21  DiMaria.

         22                 As far as the jurisdiction goes, for

         23  as -- I am sure you have read the report how nearly

         24  half the drivers, the backgrounds were checked with

         25  possible criminal histories.  That was not directly

                                                            109

          1  WATERFRONTS AND PUBLIC SAFETY COMMITTEES

          2  in your bailiwick, I would believe?

          3                 MR. DIMARIA: No it was not.  I think

          4  we have made ourselves available because we have the

          5  mechanisms to do it, but we do not have the

          6  jurisdiction to take the responsibility on.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON NELSON: Good. Sir?

          8                 Would that require state law?

          9                 MR. DIMARIA: Yes it would, a state

         10  law from both states.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON NELSON: Both. Sure.  And

         12  the PA together with that, I would imagine.  Okay.

         13                 MR. DIMARIA: We have the capabilities

         14  to do it because we have the machinery, we have the

         15  authority to do the background checks, and we can do

         16  it.  Would it be easy?  No. Because there is almost

         17  50,000 truck drivers.  But it can be done. Yes, it

         18  can be done.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON NELSON: Do you have the

         20  available materials and you are willing to do it, it

         21  should be.  You should obviously be allowed to do

         22  this.  It is just part of my frustration with a lot

         23  of today's meeting, as a matter of fact.  You can do

         24  it. You want to do it.  And so far you do not have

         25  the authority to do it.
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          2                 MR. DIMARIA: That is correct.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON NELSON: TWIC, okay.  That

          4  is something that its time has come and yet it is

          5  not here yet.  Have you been fighting to implement

          6  this?  From your perch?

          7                 MR. DIMARIA: It is  --  TWIC goes

          8  beyond what we do. It does not preempt us and a

          9  couple of things about TWIC.  And I have been in

         10  touch with the program director at the TSA to see,

         11  especially since Dubai controversy, and I know they

         12  are trying to implement it as quickly as possible.

         13  And it is easy to criticize that it has not come out

         14  yet, but to try to get one card that covers every

         15  port worker in the country with the various

         16  differences among the ports, it is very difficult to

         17  do.  They have an incredible task, I do not envy

         18  them.  But yes, we share the frustration that it is

         19  long overdue.

         20                 TWIC would cover every worker, even a

         21  secretary or a janitor in one of the terminals,

         22  would have to have a TWIC card. The level of

         23  security is somewhat less stringent than our own at

         24  the Waterfront Commission, but it is still a very

         25  necessary item and you know, from what we are told,
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          2  in early 2007, it should roll out, but I know they

          3  have a lot of pressure on them from the federal

          4  government now to try to implement it sooner.  But

          5  it certainly will be a welcome add to the port

          6  security agenda.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON NELSON: Sure, because we

          8  have all seen movies how anybody can almost get into

          9  every single facility one way or another.  TWIC

         10  probably would alleviate that problem from what I

         11  have heard about TWIC.  And it certainly should be

         12  implemented as soon as possible, not withstanding,

         13  the extreme difficulty in implementation.

         14                 Anyway, Chairman Vallone?

         15                 CHAIRMAN VALLONE: How many police do

         16  you actually have?

         17                 MR. DIMARIA: Forty five sworn

         18  officers.

         19                 CHAIRMAN VALLONE: And I was surprised

         20  to hear that you actually do some -- you patrol

         21  terminals with those officers?

         22                 MR. DIMARIA: Yes.

         23                 CHAIRMAN VALLONE: Now, how do you

         24  interact then with the private security hired by the

         25  port, and with any Coast Guard or NYPD, there

                                                            112

          1  WATERFRONTS AND PUBLIC SAFETY COMMITTEES

          2  appears to be a lot of patrolling around and how

          3  does all that work together?

          4                 MR. DIMARIA: Well as I said before,

          5  there is great inter- agency cooperation with the

          6  Port Authority and the NYPD and other law

          7  enforcement agencies.  The security officers at the

          8  terminals, we license and register.  So they are

          9  under our jurisdiction.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Well, how do you

         11  determine which port to patrol?  Is there a --  do

         12  you look for a need or a lack of security at certain

         13  locations, or is it just -- how does that happen?  I

         14  do not want to have 20 people in one location and

         15  zero in another.  How does the -- is that

         16  coordinated?

         17                 MR. DIMARIA: Of course, no, it is

         18  coordinated by our Chief of Police in our Police

         19  division.  Unfortunately he is at the same meeting

         20  that Bethann Rooney spoke of, getting together with

         21  respect to the opening of the Brooklyn Passenger

         22  Ship Terminal on April 15th with the Queen May II

         23  coming in.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: You mentioned

         25  that the port operator hires security but they need
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          2  to be checked by you.

          3                 MR. DIMARIA: That is correct.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: In addition to a

          5  fingerprint check, which obviously you do, and a

          6  criminal background check. What other background

          7  checks are done?

          8                 MR. DIMARIA: We do the social

          9  security check. If they are foreign born, we do

         10  alien registration.  We check through Department of

         11  Homeland Security.  The fingerprint goes to the

         12  state of residence and also to the FBI.  Also if

         13  they are foreign born, you know, we give the

         14  information to the FBI to be checked against various

         15  lists.

         16                 As far as security officers, as I

         17  said, they have to go through an educational test.

         18  They also have to go through a psychological test.

         19  And they also have to go through a medical test for

         20  physical fitness.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Okay.

         22                 MR. DIMARIA: And then a two day

         23  training program.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Okay.  What

         25  other interaction do you have with the port
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          2  operators regarding security, other than you

          3  checking their backgrounds on hirees?

          4                 MR. DIMARIA: Our police are available

          5  and sometimes make record if they see security,

          6  something that might lead to a security breach.

          7  They will give advice or recommendations to a

          8  particular terminal operator to say, you know,

          9  perhaps if you did this gate or had a light over

         10  here, or you know, whatever various security --

         11  various ways to improve their, I guess, reduce the

         12  risk of being tampered with or broken into, or

         13  whatever.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: So you would

         15  make these suggestions to them?

         16                 MR. DIMARIA: Yes.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: And would they

         18  be forced to implement them?

         19                 MR. DIMARIA: No.  We do not have

         20  authority to force them to implement them.  They can

         21  take them or leave them.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Okay.  This just

         23  occurred to me.  I mean, your agency was starting to

         24  combat crime problems, I guess, on the waterfront.

         25                 MR. DIMARIA: Correct.  From the
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          2  movies.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: From the movies,

          4  yea.

          5                 MR. DIMARIA: It started with

          6  organized crime.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: This situation

          8  that has developed that foreign companies are now

          9  running our ports, apparently has arisen out of

         10  that, the fact that American companies did not do it

         11  so well, and do not do it so well.  But now that you

         12  exist, has there been significant progress made and

         13  this still a problem we need to worry about?

         14                 MR. DIMARIA: Significant progress

         15  made toward reducing organized --

         16                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Toward reducing

         17  crime at the waterfront and toward getting American

         18  companies either back into this business or into the

         19  business of doing it correctly so that we do not

         20  need foreign countries running our ports?

         21                 MR. DIMARIA: Well, we have nothing to

         22  do with who owns the company or buys the companies

         23  or whatever.  In answer to the portion of your

         24  question concerning organized crime, yes, we have

         25  come a long way since 1953.  Is it eradicated?  No.
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          2  The industry, the docks, the piers are akin to a

          3  petri dish.  And if the bacteria is in there, it

          4  could grow.  And organized crime is insidious in

          5  that it is like a cancer.  And although we are

          6  recent successes in investigations leading to the

          7  arrest and conviction of the head and number of

          8  coppos (sic.) and soldiers in the Gambino crime

          9  family, go a long way with the able assistance of

         10  the U.S. Attorneys office and their tremendous

         11  prosecutions, prosecutors. And with the assistance

         12  of the organized crime task force and the Department

         13  of Labor, we are able to have that recent success.

         14  To think that it ends there, would be foolish and

         15  naive.  So, our police are ever vigilant.  We have

         16  our detectives in making the rounds over the years

         17  develop relationships with people that work on the

         18  docks, including the longshoremen.  We develop

         19  confidential informants and we are kept apprized of

         20  various conduct, and we have to remain vigilant.

         21  Because it could come back in the future.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: It sounds like

         23  you do very thorough background checks of the

         24  security guards.  Are those the same background

         25  checks that are done of Stevedores and other people
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          2  that work on the docks?

          3                 MR. DIMARIA: Similar, I mean the

          4  security officers have the extra, the educational

          5  testing and the psychological testing.  That is

          6  different for the Stevedoring Company, yea, they go

          7  through a background check, we do fingerprinting, we

          8  check the social security numbers and again, if they

          9  are foreign born, we go through DHS for alien

         10  registration and --

         11                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: I think I may

         12  have come across the problem and this is something

         13  that is in your written testimony.  You said, in

         14  order to combat terrorism and organized crime, this

         15  is the bottom of page three, the Commission has

         16  sought legislation for three legislative sessions to

         17  expand the existing statute to empower the

         18  commission to deny applications for registration or

         19  licensing, where the applicant has associated or

         20  associates with a person whom applicant knows, or

         21  should know as a member of an organized crime group,

         22  a terrorist group, a career offender cartel, or is a

         23  member or associate of an organized crime group and

         24  it goes on.  So, this is raising some concerns here.

         25    Do you mean you cannot deny someone?
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          2                 MR. DIMARIA: Yes.  We cannot.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: You need to

          4  explain that.

          5                 MR. DIMARIA: Yes I will, I am happy

          6  to do it. Currently, if someone comes in and has a

          7  clean background check, clean fingerprints, and I

          8  will give you an exact instance.  We all know

          9  Vincent The Chin Gigante.  May he rest in peace.

         10  His son, Andrew Gigante, applied for registration

         11  with the Waterfront Commission.  After doing the

         12  background check, he had a clean criminal

         13  background, et cetera, and we had no alternative but

         14  to issue Andrew registration.  Subsequently he ran a

         15  foul of the law in federal court and was convicted,

         16  and we were able to revoke his registration.

         17  However, we had no alternative but to register him

         18  in the first place.

         19                 Under the new law, which I may add

         20  has been recently passed in New Jersey, and has been

         21  introduced in the New York State Senate by Senator

         22  Michael Balboni, we will be able to deny someone

         23  registration or revoke their registration if we find

         24  that they are connected with organized crime, a

         25  terrorist sell or any organized- any crime cartel.
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          2  Obviously, the association would have to be proven

          3  at a hearing and anyone who is denied an

          4  application, by the way, has a full right to a

          5  hearing.  They have due process rights, so their

          6  rights are protected.

          7                 MR. AXELROD: Those mechanisms, by the

          8  way, are within our agency as well, as far as a law

          9  department, administrative law judges and --

         10                 CHAIRPERSON NELSON: Now you need

         11  legislation at the state level to get this done?

         12                 MR. DIMARIA: Both states.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON NELSON: Both states.  And

         14   --

         15                 MR. DIMARIA: Like I said, it was

         16  passed in New Jersey recently, both houses.  It has

         17  been introduced just recently by Senator Michael

         18  Balboni in the Senate, and it should be in the near

         19  future, introduced in the Assembly.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON NELSON: Well, it was

         21  passed in both houses.  Has the Governor of New

         22  Jersey signed it?

         23                 MR. DIMARIA: Yes, he did.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON NELSON: So it is a law in

         25  New Jersey.
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          2                 MR. DIMARIA: Yes, it is -- well, it

          3  does not become law until it has been enacted and

          4  adopted in both states.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON NELSON: Got you.  Okay,

          6  now you have done this of three legislative sessions

          7  in New York.  It sounds like, you know, preventing

          8  crime 101.  What has been the resistance you have

          9  found in Albany?

         10                 MR. DIMARIA: I cannot really identify

         11  the resistance.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON NELSON: Welcome to our

         13  world.

         14                 MR. DIMARIA: Yea.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON NELSON: No, it has

         16  nothing to do with it, the Governor being ill.

         17                 I am sorry, I am interrupting you.

         18                 MR. DIMARIA: No, we have had Senate

         19  sponsors that have introduced it.  They went into

         20  committee and died and in the Assembly for the past

         21  two years, we could not even get it introduced in

         22  the Assembly.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON NELSON: It is like crime

         24  legislation, died in the Assembly.  How unusual.

         25                 MR. DIMARIA: But I will say, that I
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          2  will say that currently there is great interest in

          3  our bills.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON NELSON: What can we do?

          5  I am introducing resolution as we speak to support

          6  this in Albany.  Can you recommend anything else we

          7  can do to help you with that?

          8                 MR. AXELROD: There is two, obviously

          9  we will get -- we will provide you with the Senate

         10  bill numbers and a letter in support would be very

         11  beneficial to us.  At the same time, there is some

         12  legislation which has been introduced in New York

         13  which would lessen our powers regarding what we

         14  referred to as Section 5P of our Act, to give the

         15  jurisdiction or the decision to hire to the

         16  employers or to the Stevedores, and we are resisting

         17  that and some assistance or a letter in opposition

         18  to this legislation, would benefit us, as well.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON NELSON: We will get right

         20  on that. Thank you.

         21                 MR. AXELROD: I will be happy to send

         22  you the Bill numbers and copies of the Bills so you

         23  can comment.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON NELSON: Council Member

         25  Brewer.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Thank you very

          3  much.  My question, of course is that since 1973 a

          4  lot has changed, and one of them is in the

          5  technology world.  When you talked to Ray Kelly, you

          6  find that he has a thousand police officers looking

          7  at computers.  That did not exist in 1953.  So my

          8  question to you is, you talked about the wireless

          9  laptop technology, encryption and so on.  I am just

         10  wondering as you think about the port, what are some

         11  technology changes that need to be made?  Is that

         12  something that you are focusing on?  I understand

         13  there is communication, that is part of it.  But

         14  there is also, you have to do more than communicate.

         15    Obviously, you have to put the hardware the

         16  software in order to deal with some of these

         17  unfortunate possible circumstances.  And I also want

         18  to mention, or ask in terms of wireless, is that

         19  secure?  Obviously, these are all issues that we

         20  have to deal with today, which we did not have to

         21  deal with in the past.  I asked earlier about GIS.

         22  That is just one portion of this big picture.

         23                 MR. DIMARIA: Since 911, and we have

         24  been fortunate to be the beneficiaries of two

         25  Homeland Security grants over the past four years.
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          2  And that grant money has been put to excellent use.

          3  One with the mobile command center, but also with a

          4  lot of technology.  And I wish my Director of IT was

          5  here, because I am not a technical person and he

          6  could tell you exactly what we have done.  But we

          7  have  -- with respect, yes, it is a safe wireless

          8  connection because we are transmitting very

          9  sensitive information. In addition, the type -- we

         10  purchased a great deal of surveillance equipment,

         11  and all different kinds of hardware that would be a

         12  laundry list and pages to set forth.

         13                 We, in the past three years, have

         14  significantly enhanced the capability of our Police

         15  Division to do surveillance work and analysis of

         16  criminal data and investigative materials.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Right.  The

         18  reason I ask this is because it is only as good as

         19  what the coordination is all about?

         20                 MR. DIMARIA: Yes.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: So obviously

         22  you have, you know, data warehouse issues, you have

         23  coordination issues, you have platform issues, you

         24  have base map issues, you have overlay issues. So

         25  with all due respect to the port, I know they are
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          2  working on it also.  But it obviously has a

          3  security/corruption/many other aspects to it.  And

          4  you know, people can hack in at the same time, you

          5  need to coordinate.  I just think it is something

          6  that we think we are doing fine, but there are many

          7  aspects to it.  So, you are saying that -- is that

          8  part of your mandate to try to think of this

          9  coordination picture on the text side?

         10                 MR. DIMARIA: What we have done is as

         11  we have particularly in the last several years,

         12  upgraded our technological abilities.  We have an IT

         13  person on staff who is, I am glad he is not here to

         14  hear me say it, he is very bright and hard working

         15  and we like to keep him on his toes.  But we are

         16  constantly trying to upgrade and also to purchase

         17  systems or to be state of the art as state of the

         18  art as we can be.  And one of his missions, as out

         19  IT Director, is to stay on top of that.  And

         20  obviously, it is his field and his profession, and

         21  we think he does a good job at it.

         22                 MR. AXELROD: And he coordinates very

         23  closely with our police personnel so that the

         24  systems and the equipment that we bought, in

         25  particular with regard to communications, is inter
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          2  operable with the other agencies.  So we are on the

          3  same platform.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Okay.  Thank

          5  you.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON NELSON: Thank you,

          7  Council Member Brewer.  You can tell your employee

          8  to watch Crosswalks, he may be able to see it.

          9                 MR. AXELROD: Okay. I will.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON NELSON: If he gets it in

         11  his viewing stations.

         12                 I want to mention, please, that we

         13  thank Frank McDonald for being here, President of

         14  New York Shipping Association.  And Donald Hutton,

         15  representing a New Jersey Rail, in New York Cross

         16  Harbor Railroad Operations, and will not be

         17  speaking, but has submitted written testimony.

         18  Thank you.

         19                 And we thank you for the hard work

         20  that you put in trying to protect our ports, given

         21  sometimes limited mechanisms at your disposal, but

         22  again, anything that we can do to make some noise to

         23  help, we appreciate it.  Thank you very much.

         24                 MR. AXELROD: Thank you Mr. Chairman

         25  for the opportunity.
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          2                 MR. DIMARIA: Thank you very much.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON NELSON: You are very

          4  welcome.

          5                 And we thank also for staying this

          6  late hour, a Mr. Robert Scavone is here from P&O

          7  Ports.  We thank you for staying so long and

          8  testifying.  I pronounced the name right, right?

          9  Mr. Scavone?  Thank you.

         10                 Okay.  And if there was anyone else

         11  who wanted to testify, if they could please fill out

         12  a form.  Oh, Mr. Devine? Someone else wanted to

         13  testify with you?  Sure if they would just fill out

         14  the form.  Okay.  Sure.  They could both be here.

         15  Right, and the Sergeant- at- Arms will take care of

         16  that.

         17                 I suppose if four, whoever else is

         18  going to testify, if Mr. Scavone, if you wanted to

         19  start the testimony that would be fine.  If you

         20  please would just identify yourself again for the

         21  record.

         22                 MR. SCAVONE: Yes, thank you,

         23  Chairman.  My name is Rob Scavone.  I am Executive

         24  Vice President of P&O Ports North America.  Among my

         25  responsibilities is the supervision of our security
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          2  function.  I am a member of the Board of The

          3  National Association of Waterfront Employers, which

          4  is the industry group. I also serve as co- chairman

          5  of an advisory group to the International Standards

          6  Organization on matters of container security, which

          7  group includes all international terminal operators.

          8                 I have submitted prepared remarks for

          9  the record, so I will just summarize some of them

         10  now.

         11                 Locally, P&O Ports operates in the

         12  New York Cruise Terminal on the Hudson River in

         13  Manhattan, the Port Newark Container Terminal in

         14  Newark.  We also service Stevedore, the automobile

         15  carriers at several auto facilities in Newark and

         16  Bayonne.

         17                 I would like to just briefly go over

         18  a few comments about security of cargo, and a

         19  particular container as cargo, and conclude with a

         20  few points about the Cruise Terminal.

         21                 We have become accustomed to hearing

         22  that our ports in the U.S. are our most vulnerable

         23  points of entry.  And this, I submit, tends to lead

         24  to the conclusion that the ports themselves are the

         25  location where security needs most to be enhanced.
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          2  This is not correct.  Our ports in the U.S. are

          3  already the one point in the global supply chain,

          4  over which we have the most control.  It would be

          5  more accurate to say, if the security of the supply

          6  chain in the foreign location should fail, the place

          7  where we in the U.S. will find out about it, or be

          8  first exposed to it, would be in the U.S. Port.

          9                 But no amount of security on the part

         10  of the terminal operator in that U.S. Facility will

         11  change that fact, because by that point, our

         12  defenses would have already have been breached.  And

         13  the cargo will now be here.

         14                 Therefore, the enhancement of the

         15  security in our U.S. Ports and our Homeland, is best

         16  accomplished by improving the security at the point

         17  of origin.  Programs like the 24 hour rule, which

         18  permits U.S. Customs to prevent the loading of a

         19  container on to a vessel before it leaves a foreign

         20  port.  The Customs Trade Partnership Against

         21  Terrorism and the CSI program through which U.S.

         22  Customs officials are actually physically present in

         23  the ports of almost 50 countries, have all

         24  contributed to this goal.  If efforts will be made

         25  to continually improve our security, this is where
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          2  the focus must remain.

          3                 Obviously, those are all federal

          4  programs.  Some of these objectives will experience

          5  substantial progress simply by the decision to

          6  devote more resources to them.  But others will

          7  require a global program, joining the governments of

          8  virtually every trading country with carriers,

          9  terminal operators, technology vendors and world

         10  standards bodies, such as the International

         11  Standards Organization.

         12                 At our port facilities here, within

         13  the context of the global supply chain to which I

         14  just referred, in Port Newark, we have a cargo

         15  terminal, and security at a cargo terminal can be

         16  divided into facility security and cargo security.

         17  Facility security at a container terminal really is

         18  no different than you might expect at any industrial

         19  location.  Every terminal operator is obliged by the

         20  Coast Guard to have normal security measures

         21  necessary to limit access of people and vehicles.

         22  If there is a difference for port facilities, it is

         23  that the Coast Guard enforces those security

         24  measures and has the authority to shut the terminal

         25  down if they do not believe that their measure are
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          2  being observed. Now of course, access control refers

          3  to access to a terminal by persons from the land

          4  side, who are already in the United States. Access

          5  of vessels to the port is in the hands of the Coast

          6  Guard. Access for the crew of the vessels, is under

          7  the control of Customs and Border Protection, not

          8  the terminal operator.  We enforce the access

          9  controls because they serve to protect against

         10  unauthorized entry to the facility for any reason,

         11  just as we did before the days of terrorist

         12  concerns.  But it is generally considered unlikely

         13  that a terrorist already inside the U.S. Will elect

         14  to target a cargo terminal.

         15                 Cargo security is the jurisdiction of

         16  Customs and Border Protection.  It is a fundamental

         17  precept of the container shipping industry, that a

         18  container will be sealed at its point of origin and

         19  not opened until it reaches its ultimate

         20  destination. A terminal operator never opens, or

         21  otherwise inspects a container, to verify its

         22  contents.  In fact, except in the case of hazardous

         23  cargo, a terminal operator does not ask to know what

         24  the declared contents are, because it does not need

         25  that information.  And if it should happen to learn
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          2  what the declared contents were, it would always be

          3  benign in any case, because that is a declared

          4  contents. And the terminal operator would always

          5  assume that that declaration is correct because only

          6  government authorities, such as Customs, reserve the

          7  right to open containers.  And when they do, they

          8  decide which containers will be opened and they do

          9  it under their own supervision.  The only

         10  involvement of the terminal operator is to deliver

         11  the unopened container to Customs.  In all container

         12  terminals in this port, excuse me, that is done

         13  using workers belonging to the longshoremen's union,

         14  all of whom are licensed by the Waterfront

         15  Commission.  No container leaves a facility until

         16  U.S. Customs indicates it is free to go.

         17                 So a container terminal can be

         18  compared, I think, to, for instance, the central

         19  consolidation operation of an overnight courier,

         20  such as Fedex in Memphis, where employees receive

         21  and reroute packages rapidly, without having any

         22  information about what is in them.  The do not

         23  require that information to do their job.

         24                 At the Cruise Terminal, in 2004,

         25  pursuant to the Coast Guard rules we heard about
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          2  earlier, P&O Ports retained Michael Stapleton

          3  Associates, which is a respected security firm owned

          4  and operated by former New York City police officers

          5  to develop the facility security plan that would be

          6  used at the Cruise Terminal.  The plan was reviewed

          7  and approved by the Coast Guard and it is the plan

          8  that is followed today.  An unusual feature of that

          9  is that the role of facility security officer, which

         10  is a position required by the regulations, is

         11  actually filled by Michael Stapleton Associates,

         12  rather than by a P&O Ports employee as would

         13  normally be the case.

         14                 Our security operations at the New

         15  York Cruise Terminal are performed under the

         16  direction and supervision of Stapleton Associates,

         17  and we have been complemented by the Coast Guard for

         18  the measures we have taken above and beyond the

         19  legal requirements, to ensure the security of our

         20  Cruise passengers, such as canine screening of

         21  vehicles, or 24 hour pre- booking of all vendors and

         22  suppliers calling to supply the vessels.  We have

         23  introduced state of the art surveillance technology

         24  at the pier, and we would be honored, Mr. Chairman

         25  to host you or any of your committee members, should
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          2  you wish to have a personal tour of that.

          3                 In closing, just a few points about

          4  foreign ownership, if I may, since it obviously is a

          5  topical issue.  It is the fact that foreign interest

          6  may own many of the companies that manage our

          7  terminals in the U.S. has recently become a major

          8  point of discussion.  The focus has been on the

          9  extent to which such ownership may impact the

         10  security function inside our terminals. The answer

         11  it does not impact the security function at all, for

         12  the reason I have mentioned.  In every case of which

         13  I am aware, foreign ownership of terminal operating

         14  businesses in the U.S. is conducted by U.S.

         15  subsidiaries employing predominantly U.S. citizens

         16  and U.S. labor, and paying U.S. Taxes.  But under no

         17  circumstances does this permit the foreign

         18  shareholder to control any port or terminal in the

         19  U.S.  Obviously, the shareholder will control

         20  indirectly the overall business strategy of the

         21  company. But like any business, it is subject to the

         22  laws of the countries in which it operates.  And it

         23  may only exercise its influence within those limits.

         24    If you accept that the security at the originating

         25  end of the supply chain is the area most requiring

                                                            134

          1  WATERFRONTS AND PUBLIC SAFETY COMMITTEES

          2  attention, you will recognize that the participation

          3  of the major global terminal operating companies of

          4  the world, alongside our U.S. terminal operating

          5  companies, permits us to have a much broader global

          6  cooperative effort, to address the ways and means to

          7  enhance the security of that supply chain, including

          8  such things as scanning or Gamma equipment in the

          9  foreign port of loading.  Rather than ban foreign

         10  investment, is it not better to govern the actual

         11  operations here in a way that it does not matter who

         12  the owner is? But the free market forces determine

         13  who owns what.  Foreign investment in this country

         14  build facilities and hires people that the American

         15  market standing alone, frankly, does not wish to

         16  fund. P&O alone has invested a quarter of a billion

         17  dollars in this port while it was foreign owned.  We

         18  hire 6,000 union workers in the country every day.

         19  We have a facility in Newark that can handle the

         20  equivalent of a million 20 foot containers a year.

         21  That did not exist five years ago.  The other

         22  contenders for that concession were Asian companies.

         23    So it is important to bear in mind that everything

         24  is connected to everything else.  It is a

         25  complicated industry.
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          2                 I do appreciate the fact that the

          3  committee is open minded and asking the right kind

          4  of questions for a very complex industry that is not

          5  very well understood by outsiders.  I think it is a

          6  laudable effort to learn the facts.  It is a truly

          7  international business.  Just last week the American

          8  Association of Port Authorities announced its

          9  position that it is not in favor on foreign

         10  ownership of terminal operators, including foreign

         11  companies that are owned by foreign governments

         12                 Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON NELSON: You are welcome.

         14  Thank you, Mr. Scavone.

         15                 I knew that it was immediately an

         16  emotional issue and that it took on a life of its

         17  own.

         18                 MR. SCAVONE: Yes.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON NELSON: I believe that

         20  Communist China, I think, has a port in Staten

         21  Island, as a matter of fact.  So I am sure this will

         22  be visited as well, eventually, and see who with

         23  that winds up.

         24                 Chair Vallone, did you have anything

         25  to say to this? Okay.
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          2                 If possible, Mr. Devine, would

          3  present his testimony.

          4                 MR. DEVINE: Yes.  I would be that

          5  Chinese communist terminal on Staten Island.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON NELSON: There you go.  I

          7  was hoping.

          8                 MR. DEVINE: As you so erroneously

          9  labeled it.

         10                 Good afternoon, Ladies and Gentlemen.

         11    It is my pleasure to appear before the council,

         12  yet again, to help further your understanding of the

         13  activities and the value of the terminal located on

         14  Staten Island, referred to as New York Container

         15  Terminal.

         16                 It was my intent to confine my

         17  remarks to three general areas.  First was just a

         18  general update to the council who I have been please

         19  to appear to before, as to the current status of the

         20  terminal in terms of its activity, its enrollment of

         21  personnel in New York City and State, and its future

         22  plans, and then to go directly to the issue at hand,

         23  which is port security.

         24                 I will take just a minute and tell

         25  you that the terminal is, in fact, pleased to report
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          2  that in 2005, it grew by 12 percent.  In January of

          3  this year, we handed out 835 W- 2's, which is up

          4  from where it was the last time I reported it to the

          5  council and are particularly please to point out

          6  that 74 percent of those W- 2's represented New York

          7  State or City residents.

          8                 Our annual payroll was $37 million

          9  dollars and those payrolls generated 9.1 million in

         10  federal, city and state taxes. Again, that is 74

         11  percent, up two percent over the previous

         12  year.

         13                 We are particularly pleased that the

         14  Port Authority of New York/New Jersey, in

         15  conjunction with New York City Economic Development

         16  Corporation, continues to do an outstanding job in

         17  furthering the growth of this facility.  I am

         18  pleased to report that on dock rail is anticipated

         19  to be available in July, and that the dredging of

         20  the Arthur Kill will also be completed on or about

         21  July of this year.  With the completion of these two

         22  projects, the second half of 2006 looks particularly

         23  favorable to us and we anticipate by year end, a 57

         24  percent growth in volume.  This will bring on

         25  approximately another 50 jobs at the facility, and
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          2  with the support of the Waterfront Commission, I am

          3  confident that we will grow 50 more New Yorkers who

          4  are good American citizens, one way or another.

          5                 With the continued support of the

          6  Port Authority and the City, beyond 2006 looks even

          7  brighter.  We have very ambitious plans for the

          8  adjoining Proctor and Gamble property to grow yet

          9  another pier on the New York side of the harbor.  We

         10  have hired at the beginning of the year, an outside

         11  civil engineer and an engineering firm to help us

         12  grow, an additional pier which will increase our

         13  three foot capacity by about 75 percent.  It is a

         14  $250 million dollar investment.  We are very

         15  encouraged that, again, with the support of the Port

         16  Authority and the City and the State, that this will

         17  become a reality in the not too distant future.  I

         18  am keenly aware that additional facilities are

         19  needed in the greater New York harbor, in order to

         20  handle the growing international trade.  So much for

         21  the commercial.

         22                 As for security, I would like to make

         23  a simple attempt to just bring you up to date on

         24  some of the initiatives that have been touched on

         25  before.  So I will not go into great depth on them,
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          2  but I would like to categorize it as saying, in the

          3  post 911 world, you indicated a couple of times that

          4  you were concerned about the state of security.  And

          5  hopefully, at the end of my brief remarks, you will

          6  feel a little bit more comfortable with going home

          7  tonight.  Because there has been a lot done, and it

          8  is a testimony to Homeland Security, U.S. Customs

          9  and U.S. Coast Guard, in conjunction with a lot of

         10  other agencies that it has got done.  One of the

         11  more noteworthy events which Commissioner Booner

         12  pushed through over four years ago, was the pre-

         13  shipment advice before a container can be lifted in

         14  foreign port.  This, for those of us in the industry

         15  thought would never get through because we have

         16  lived with the fact that containers used to go to

         17  vessels without any notification of what was in

         18  them, what their weight was, et cetera, with the

         19  exception of hazard.  Commissioner Booner stayed the

         20  course, the federal government enacted laws, and as

         21  of three and a half, four years ago now, no

         22  container can be lifted in a foreign port unless the

         23  manifest data is submitted to U.S. Customs, and they

         24  have a chance to get that document and can deny the

         25  container being loaded at the foreign port.  It is
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          2  acknowledged that is only a paper exercise at this

          3  point in time, but it was a tremendous step forward

          4  in screening preliminarily, the several millions of

          5  containers that hit our shores every day.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON NELSON: Sir, I am sorry

          7  Mr. Divine, not to interrupt you, is that every

          8  port?

          9                 MR. DIVINE: Every port.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON NELSON: Throughout the

         11  world?

         12                 MR. DIVINE: Throughout the world.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON NELSON: Thank you.

         14                 MR. DIVINE: No container can come to

         15  the United States unless the manifest is submitted

         16  to Customs, on paper.  Can it be erroneous?

         17  Absolutely.  But let us go on because there has been

         18  a second step.

         19                 Using that manifest data, U.S.

         20  Customs, Homeland Security has created a security

         21  matrix that they use that data to run through and

         22  then they target, as Admiral Larrabee pointed out,

         23  high risk containers.  They take the high risk

         24  containers, prior to a ship arriving in the port.

         25  We, as a terminal operator know from U.S. Customs
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          2  what containers they want to run through screening.

          3  Depending on how many containers are on a particular

          4  ship, we will create a second separate work element,

          5  and when those containers are discharged from the

          6  vessel, they will go into a separate pile on the

          7  facility and they are subject to Custom scrutiny

          8  while they are on the facility before they have the

          9  opportunity to run them through the Gamma x- rays,

         10  or it is referred to as VACIS, which we talked

         11  about.  Literally, we x- ray hundreds of containers

         12  every week that are the high risk containers that

         13  get brought in as a result of the manifest screening

         14  with the security matrix.  That matrix is broken

         15  down, and I do not know the exact criteria that they

         16  use, but we can reasonably assume it is based on

         17  country of origin, shipper, consignee, nature of the

         18  commodity, and whether it is a recognized shipper,

         19  or not a recognized shipper.

         20                 What I have seen first hand, is that

         21  those containers that are referred to as Brick- a-

         22  Brack, meaning it is a mom and pop shipper, those

         23  are the containers that get targeted at a hundred

         24  percent level.  If you have got Heineken importing

         25  Heineken beer from Rotterdam, and you bring in 600
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          2  containers a week from Heineken, those are the

          3  containers that do not get VACIS'd.  But if you have

          4  a high risk origin, a high risk shipper or a

          5  particular commodity that would indicate household

          6  goods, they get hit.

          7                 And I am very pleased to report as

          8  you can see in my handout and for the benefit of

          9  being dramatic, I will make you a big one so they

         10  can get picked up.  This is the type of thing, guys,

         11  that gets picked up.  So, if you can sleep better

         12  tonight, this is the type of thing that is getting

         13  picked up.  This is a load of Brick- a- Brack.  Does

         14  that look like Brick- a- Brack?  Those are weapons,

         15  those are rifles.  That one did not make it.  There

         16  were three others and they all did not make it.

         17                 What does that look like to you?

         18  That is a torpedo. That is a M45 torpedo.  It came

         19  out of South America.  It was labeled as food,

         20  coming out of South America.  A small shipper, did

         21  not make sense, Customs VACIS'd it, they saw

         22  something in a differential x- ray, did not like it,

         23  stripped it, worked out with it.  That is a surface

         24  to surface missile.  Hopefully you can sleep better.

         25    They get good stuff and those particular
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          2  shipments, if you go up screen on them, I think the

          3  one was a test of the system.  I think that was ABC

          4  or NBC, this is my personal observation, someone

          5  testing the system.  That happened about a year and

          6  a half ago and you did not read in the paper that it

          7  got caught, but it got caught.  Homeland Security,

          8  U.S. Customs, they are doing a good job.  Is it a

          9  perfect job?  No.  But then nothing is perfect.

         10                 Heightened Coast Guard screening,

         11  prior to 911, a vessel could basically pull into

         12  this port, and tie up at the dock. That stopped.

         13  That stopped right now.  Ninety six hours prior to a

         14  vessel arriving into this harbor, they have to

         15  provide to U.S. Coast Guard, their updated manifest,

         16  and their intent to come into the harbor.  If U.S.

         17  Coast Guard looks at that manifest and does not like

         18  what it sees, it denies entry into the harbor.  If

         19  the ship starts to come into the harbor and

         20  subsequent to its arriving, they find out that there

         21  is  something wrong with the manifest, what does

         22  U.S. Customs do?  They turn it around and send it

         23  back out.  About two months ago, I had a vessel tied

         24  up at the dock, U.S. Customs looked at the manifest,

         25  said this was improperly done, made us button the
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          2  ship up, sailed it, it went back out in the harbor

          3  on a penalty that cost them about $60,000 dollars in

          4  lost wages for the people that were hired to handle

          5  it.  So U.S. Coast Guard and U.S. Customs is doing a

          6  good job.

          7                 Physical security, in the last two

          8  years we witnessed the Port Authority spend those

          9  millions of dollars that Admiral Larrabee talked

         10  about in terms of fencing, crash proof fencing,

         11  cameras that are on all our light poles.  I have

         12  been to their command center.  They can watch our

         13  facility seven by twenty four.  I am extremely

         14  pleased that they are doing it.  What we are doing

         15  to augment that, is provide our own cameras, and we

         16  actually are spending more money than they have,

         17  because the cameras that we are doing with ITT,

         18  which is a military supplier, we are using infrared

         19  cameras.  So now we do not only have the visual

         20  spectrum, but we have infrared cameras screening our

         21  facility.  We have made these cameras available to

         22  Coast Guard.  We have made them available to Customs

         23  and we have made them available to Port Authority.

         24  So, we are improving our own security.

         25                 I will not bother to get into what I
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          2  knew the Waterfront Commission was going to say, but

          3  the people that work on the facility, the threat is

          4  not the people that work on the facility, generally

          5  speaking.  The Waterfront Commission does an

          6  outstanding job in making sure that the credentials

          7  of the people that work on the facility, including

          8  myself.  I had to go in, I personally had to be

          9  finger printed.   I had to go through a rubber hose,

         10  I am trying to -- it was not a rubber hose, but they

         11  beat me up, because they wanted to know why I did

         12  not show up the first time.

         13                 The fact is, they hold a tremendous

         14  power over anybody that works on the waterfront.

         15  And if they do not do what they are supposed to do,

         16  they do not work on a waterfront.  So we can feel

         17  comfortable that the longshoremen -- are there

         18  shortfalls? Absolutely.  You correctly pointed out

         19  that the drivers that service the facilities need

         20  better credentials.  The TWIC card is absolutely

         21  important.  We need to push the TWIC card through.

         22  That is definitely a take away.

         23                 In addition to the TWIC card, our own

         24  Jerry Nadler introduced -- I was in Washington last

         25  week, and he indicated his screen before shipping.
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          2  I absolutely believe that.  We need to move forward

          3  with that.  It is Norfolk that is correct.  Bobby

          4  Bray down there is 100 percent correct.  That

          5  technology is available. We need to see that the

          6  loading ports do that.  It is going to take a while

          7  to do it.  It is not fool proof.  But it is

          8  something that needs to be done.

          9                 Okay, now the controversial thing,

         10  foreign involvement in U.S. Ports.  Rob did a decent

         11  job in addressing it. I would only like to

         12  compliment it a little bit with a little bit of

         13  history.  As you correctly pointed out Chairman, if

         14  you go up my food chain, you end up in Hong Kong.  I

         15  do not necessarily consider myself a Communist

         16  Chinese.  I am a citizen of the United States. I was

         17  in the Army for 24 years, et cetera, et cetera.  I

         18  have had security clearances.  I have been vetted

         19  through many different organizations.  The people

         20  that I work with, my facility security officer,

         21  again, excellent credentials.  So the mere fact that

         22  if you go up and find out that we are a Hong Kong,

         23  and I would point out that we are a Hong Kong

         24  company that was founded in 1947.  And at that point

         25  in time where was Hong Kong?  It was part of the
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          2  British empire, so it was another one of these Brits

          3  (sic.) Here that the P&O Ports.  And that really is

          4  interesting.

          5                 The second point that I wanted to

          6  make before I go into this is I personally was with

          7  Sea- Land for 27 years.  Sea- Land was founded in

          8  1956.  It basically invented containerization.  And

          9  what happened to it?  In 1999, it went out of

         10  existence.  It was bought by Maersk, a Danish

         11  company.  That is the global world we live in.  I

         12  much regretted the demise of Sea- Land, but I am

         13  particularly pleased because it ultimately brought

         14  me to Howland Hook, Staten Island, where I had a

         15  chance to, again, engage in what is a tremendous

         16  worthwhile industry, which is building

         17  infrastructure and working ships.

         18                 The point that I really think is

         19  important for you to understand, because it deals

         20  with the foreign ownership, is how did that happen?

         21  It is not a conspiracy post 911.  It was not a

         22  conspiracy in 1999.  I would ask you, not a

         23  rhetorical question, but I would ask you a question

         24  that I am going to give you the answer for.  When

         25  did the damn foreigners start taking over the ports?

                                                            148

          1  WATERFRONTS AND PUBLIC SAFETY COMMITTEES

          2    A little later, let us just switch to a real brief

          3  history. I had the pleasure of being in this room

          4  and had the audacity to explain to your brother City

          5  Council members the history of that seal behind you,

          6  and the Indian and the Dutch trader and the

          7  relevance of the beaver.  Well, that is how it all

          8  started.  We were the foreigners.  We, the

          9  Americans, were the foreigners and the Indians were

         10  the only Americans that existed then.  So we came in

         11  as foreigners, we took over their country and now we

         12  run their ports, in one form or another.  My point

         13  is, my point is, that we ran, post the Revolutionary

         14  War.  The very first thing that we did as a new

         15  country in 1784, was sail the Empress of China,

         16  because as colonists, we did not have the ability to

         17  go foreign.  They did not allow us, the Brits did

         18  not allow us to go foreign.  Our first manifestation

         19  as a free country was to engage in foreign commerce.

         20  We did that through --  from 1783, 84 to about 1860.

         21    1860 we got in a Civil War, we gave up the seas to

         22  the foreigners, so that after the Civil War we could

         23  develop this country, build a railroad and invent

         24  IBM and airplanes.  We gave up the ocean.  It is a

         25  logical progression that we gave up the ports.  The
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          2  only time that this country has re- engaged in

          3  Maritime Commerce, was for World War I and World War

          4  II.  During World War II, the German ports over in

          5  Hoboken were taken over because they were run by

          6  Germans.  There is a long history of foreign

          7  involvement in this port.  It has served this

          8  country well, and I hope it will continue to serve

          9  this country well.  We need the investment.  I

         10  indicated earlier, I am looking for my company to

         11  invest $250 million dollars to create a whole new

         12  portion of infrastructure here in New York City to

         13  grow New York City taxes and it is vitally important

         14  that as a City, as a State, and as a country, we do

         15  not thumb our nose at foreign involvement in ports.

         16  It would be to our detriment.  Thank you. I will

         17  gladly take any questions.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON NELSON: No, no, you were

         19  very -- thank you, Mr. Devine.  You are a wealth of

         20  information and I also thank you for your service of

         21  24 years to this country.

         22                 No, it was not that.  It seems to be

         23  an oxymoron, we seem to have here is, just for my

         24  verification, and not to disparage it, but China is

         25  a communist country, so we have this perhaps
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          2  communist capitalists, an oxymoron of sorts, but, I

          3  do not see that as a threat, actually.  I do not

          4  think they have any real need or necessity to

          5  destroy us, especially when they have so much tied

          6  up in us.

          7                 MR. DEVINE: Valid point.  World trade

          8  is much better that World War.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON NELSON: No, I do not

         10  think I will need white sounds to go to sleep

         11  tonight.  I thank you for that, too. But these are

         12  all things that have to be looked into.  These dang

         13  (sic.) Blasted politicians, we are not concerned for

         14  just that particular aspect.  Just terrorism, that

         15  is what we are really concerned with.  I believe you

         16  know that.

         17                 MR. DEVINE: Very legitimate, a very

         18  legitimate issue.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON NELSON: It could be any,

         20  I am not that frightened about other countries, per

         21  se, in that respect.  Just total lookey (sic.) See,

         22  if you will.

         23                 Chairman Vallone?

         24                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: I just want to

         25  say, I agree completely.  I thank you for your
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          2  information, it was hugely enlightening but we do

          3  not live in the world we used to live in back in the

          4  Revolutionary days or in the 1800's.  We are not

          5  worried about an attack from a foreign power

          6  anymore.  And we are now worried about a terrorist

          7  attack, and that is what we need to prepare against,

          8  and the preparedness for a terrorist attack is

          9  completely different than it would be from an

         10  invasion by China or Britain or anywhere else.

         11                 MR. DEVINE: We beat them last time.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: I think they

         13  learned their lesson, no.

         14                 So that is why we are taking

         15  different precautions today than we have in the

         16  past, and that is why I still oppose foreign

         17  ownership of our ports.  Maybe it was appropriate in

         18  the past.  I do not believe it is anymore, for

         19  reasons I have discussed, and I would like to

         20  actually sit down with you and perhaps discuss those

         21  in more detail when we have some time.

         22                 MR. DEVINE: I would love to have you

         23  come over and understand who really works in the

         24  ports and how --

         25                 CHAIRPERSON NELSON: I have no problem
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          2  with who works in the ports, but you have a boss.

          3  You are not the boss.  And you can be replaced

          4  tomorrow by, you know, people who have whatever

          5  motives they have.  And I fully trust you working in

          6  our ports and i hope you stay there.

          7                 MR. DEVINE: But if I could just point

          8  one issue which should give you some degree of

          9  confidence.  The involvement of both Customs, Coast

         10  Guard and the actual longshoremen, ILA stands for

         11  many things.  One of which is I Love America.  I

         12  would submit that if Dubai ports or my organization

         13  brought in people that the rank and file thought was

         14  working to the detriment of even their terminal or

         15  their country, you would not have to have a

         16  investigation.  Because it would not last.  It would

         17  stop.

         18                 I am pleased to report that the ILA

         19  working with New York Shipping Association, gave a

         20  block of instruction to 100 percent of the

         21  longshoremen on threats.  And in my written

         22  testimony, I give you an example of how that

         23  training created a situation where an individual, a

         24  longshoremen, alerted somebody they were taking

         25  pictures.  Two guys got deported that were taking
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          2  pictures.  Just taking pictures.  They were riding

          3  through the terminal with a video camera, A went to

          4  B, and ended up with the Port Authority police.  You

          5  had INS in the terminal.  The folks were deported.

          6  So you have a very effective first echelon, second

          7  echelon, third echelon.  I think Rick hit it well

          8  when he said there is a multi echelon approach for

          9  security.  It is not fool proof.  But it is

         10  significantly enhanced post 911.  TWIC cards needed

         11   --

         12                 CHAIRPERSON NELSON: I am hardened to

         13  hear about the rank and file seriously, I am.  That

         14  is good news.  But fortunately that is -- our job is

         15  not to leave it up to the rank and file.  I am glad

         16  you are there as a yet another layer of security,

         17  but if Communist China decided to replace you or

         18  anyone else in your organization with the former

         19  head of their Secret Service or something like that,

         20  who is not actually working on these docks, we have

         21  no control over it.  That would happen.  And it may

         22  have happened already, for all I know.  And that is

         23  not a situation that I think should be allowed to

         24  exist.  But we are going to disagree on this, and I

         25  do not want to go until eight or nine o'clock
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          2  tonight on it.  But I would like to sit down with

          3  you maybe one day.

          4                 Again, you have been a fountain of

          5  information, both of you.  Very helpful as we look

          6  into this issue.  Thank you for coming down and

          7  waiting all this time to testify and I hope you make

          8  your four o'clock appointment which is in three

          9  minutes, okay?

         10                 MR. DEVINE: Thank you, Chairman.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Thank you,

         12  Gentlemen.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON NELSON: Hopefully we will

         14  be speaking in the future again.  We could use your

         15  information, your knowledge.

         16                 MR. DIVINE: You are more than

         17  welcome.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: I am sorry, is

         19  there a Mr. Billy Messina still with us?  Okay, we

         20  apologize if he had to leave.

         21                 Let me again thank Chair Nelson, for

         22  being the force behind this hearing, and for the

         23  help of his staff and himself in preparing for this.

         24    And conclude this hearing of the joint hearing of

         25  the Public Safety Committee and the Waterfront
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          2  Committee.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON NELSON: Thank you.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: You are welcome.

          5                 (Hearing concluded at 4:00 p.m.)
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         13  related to any of the parties to this action by

         14  blood or marriage, and that I am in no way

         15  interested in the outcome of this matter.

         16                 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto

         17  set my hand this 30th day of March 2006.
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                                   ---------------------

         25                          JANICE BERNHART

                                                            157

          1

          2             C E R T I F I C A T I O N

          3

          4

          5

          6

          7

          8

          9            I, JANICE BERNHART, do hereby certify the

         10  aforesaid to be a true and accurate copy of the

         11  transcription of the audio tapes of this hearing.
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         22                 -----------------------

                              JANICE BERNHART
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